
 

 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Wednesday, 4 November 2020.  

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

 

     

 

 

Thursday, 12 November 2020 at 2.00 pm 
Virtual meeting - This meeting is being held remotely using Skype for Business 

 

 
Committee 
Members: 

 
Councillor Ray Wootten (Chairman) 
Councillor Sarah Trotter (Vice-Chairman) 
 
Councillor Mike Exton, Councillor Mrs Rosemary Kaberry-Brown, Councillor Philip 
Knowles, Councillor Amanda Wheeler and Councillor Linda Wootten 
 

 
Invited 
Cabinet 

Members 

 
Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the Council 
Councillor Annie Mason, the Cabinet Member for Communities 
Councillor Robert Reid, the Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 
 

 

Agenda 

 Virtual Meeting - Joining Arrangements 
Councillors should access the meeting using the link in their calendar. 

Members of the press and public can gain access to the meeting by using the following link: 

Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 12 November 2020 

If you are using a smartphone or tablet it may be necessary to download the Skype for Business app 

before you can enter the meeting; please allow yourself time to do this. If you are using a laptop or 

desktop computer, you should be able to access the meeting via your web browser. 

When you follow the link to the meeting you will enter a virtual lobby; you will be invited into the 

meeting from the lobby just before the meeting begins. Members of the public should not use the 

Chat function in Skype for Business. This is for use by Councillors, who will use it to indicate that 

they would like to speak. 

If you have any questions about how to join the meeting, please e-mail 

democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk. 

Rural and 

Communities 

Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee 

https://meet.southkesteven.gov.uk/d3/2SSK4L10
mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk


 

 

 
1.   Comments from Members of the Public 

To receive comments or views from members of the public at the Committee’s 

discretion 

 

   
2.   Register of attendance, membership and apologies for absence  

   
3.   Disclosures of Interest 

Members are asked to disclose any interest in matters for consideration at the 

meeting 

 

   
4.   Action Notes from the meeting held on 10 September 2020 (Pages 5 - 18) 

   
5.   Updates from the previous meeting (Pages 19 - 20) 

   
6.   Verbal Update from Cabinet Members 

Verbal updates throughout Covid-19 pandemic, on the current situation: 

 Update on Covid-19 

 Feedback from anti-racism motion to Council 

 Community Fund 

 Community Policing 

 Homelessness Partnership with other Districts 

 Cold weather payments for homeless people 

 Local Plan 

 External Planning Review 

 Disabled Facilities Grants Quarter 2 

 Housing Repairs Update 

 Garden Maintenance Scheme 

 

   
7.   Mental Health Challenge Workshop 

To agree a workshop date and request volunteers from the Committee 

Membership 

 

   
8.   Health and Safety Compliance Report 

Health and Safety compliance report on SKDC’s Housing Service 
(Pages 21 - 60) 

   
9.   Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) 

Presentation of Key Performance Indicators and targets to align with the new 

Corporate Plan, and noting of the timetable for KPI reviews 

(To Follow) 

   
10.   Work Programme 

To note items on the 2020/21 Work Programme and Cabinet forward Plan 
(Pages 61 - 70) 

   
11.   Riverside Flats 

To consider the independent report into issues around repairs to the heating 

system at Riverside Flats in Grantham 

(Pages 71 - 82) 

   
12.   Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special 

circumstances, decides is urgent 
 
 
 

 



 

 

   
13.   Exclusion of the Press and Public 

To exclude the press and public from the meeting during the discussion of the 

following items of business due to the likelihood that information that is exempt 

under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as 

amended) because it contains information relating to the financial or business 

affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information) 

 

   
14.   Riverside Flats Exempt Appendix (Pages 83 - 94) 

   



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Meeting of the 
Rural and Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 
 
Thursday, 10 September 2020,  
1.00 pm 

 

Meeting held virtually, via Skype 

 
 
Committee Members present  
Councillor Ray Wootten (Chairman) 
Councillor Sarah Trotter (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Mike Exton 
Councillor Mrs Rosemary Kaberry-Brown 
 

Councillor Penny Milnes 
Councillor Ian Stokes 
Councillor Amanda Wheeler 
 

Cabinet Members 
Councillor Annie Mason, Cabinet Member for Communities  
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 
 
Officers 
Senior Housing and Policy Strategy Officer 
Community Engagement and Policy Development Officer 
Assistant Chief Executive Housing Delivery 
Interim Assistant Director 
Scrutiny Officer  
Democratic Officer  
 

 
58. Comments from Members of the Public 
 
There were no comments from the members of the public.   
 
59. Register of attendance, membership and apologies for absence 
 
No apologies for absence were received.   
 
60. Disclosure of Interest 
 
There were none.   
 
61. Action Notes from the meeting held on 18 June 2020 
 
The notes from the meeting held on 18 June 2020, were agreed as a correct 
record.   

5

Agenda Item 4



 
 

 
62. Updates from the previous meeting 
 
There was nothing to report.  
 
63. Verbal Updates from Cabinet Members 
 
The Cabinet Member for Communities delivered updates on the following 
subjects to the Committee.  
 
Covid-19 
 
As of 6 September 2020, a further 18 cases of Covid-19 had been reported in 
the District; 10 more cases than the previous week.  There had unfortunately 
been a total of 471 cases within the District and tragically 72 Covid-19 related 
deaths.   
 
Residents were urged to continue to wash their hands, wear masks and 
remain socially distant from those outside their own households. The 
Government had announced that as of 14 September 2020, groups larger 
than 6 made up of more than 1 household were no longer permitted to meet. 
This reflected a change to the current guidance in respect of group sizes that 
were permitted to meet whilst taking the necessary precautions.    
 
The Council were continuing to promote the safety precautions set out by the 
Government to residents, by its social media channels.   
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning delivered updates on the 
following subjects to the Committee. 
 
Traveller Community 
 
 The location of a Traveller site was on land owned by the Council, held 

within the HRA. 
 

 The land represented a potential future development opportunity which 
was in very close proximity to established social housing, which included 
flats, houses and properties where previous tenants had exercised their 
Right to Buy. 
 

 The Traveller site had been established for several months now and had 
involved the Council completing social assessment needs, as the 
traveller occupants included vulnerable adults. 
 

 Housing assessments had also been completed and offers of 
accommodation had been previously made, but they had been refused 
by the Travellers.  

 

6



 
 

 Legal preparation was now well advanced, Counsel had been instructed 
and the Council was seeking a court judgement to secure the removal of 
the Travellers.  

 
 Continued complaints from residents were still being received.  Horses 

which belonged to the travellers were regularly tethered and grazed on 
land adjacent to a children’s play area, close to the traveller site. 
 

 Final updating of statements from officers, photographic evidence, and 
site plan identification relating to the submission of evidence to Counsel 
would be completed the week commencing 14 September 2020 
September.  Securing of a court date would follow shortly after.  Full 
legal costs through to court were difficult to assess at that time, it would 
depend on total Counsel time involved, but were likely to be in the region 
of £10,000. 
 

 Plans to secure the traveller site and the land enclosing the play area 
were being finalised. It would involve hard barrier arrangements; costs 
were estimated at around £10,000. 
 

Disabled Facilities Grant 

 

 All contractors were now undertaking works on site with appropriate 
Covid-19 secure measures in place to protect them and residents, prior 
to attending and whilst they were on site.   
 

 Some delays were experienced as contractors had backlogs of work due 
to Covid-19, additional controls meant that some jobs were taking longer 
to complete. 
 

 Several jobs were still on hold, which was at the clients’ request, due to 
shielding or other vulnerabilities.  
 

 External works such as ramps continued where possible during 
lockdown.  This was alongside works which were considered essential to 
the health and safety of the occupant, where it could have been carried 
out safely.  Applications continued to be processed, where it was 
possible, ready for surveyor visits and contractors to commence works 
when lockdown was lifted. This meant that 37 adaptations had now been 
completed since 1 April 2020. 
 

 It was noted some properties required more than one adaptation. The 
adaptations completed were as follows:  
 
o 2 heating 
o 16 stairlifts 
o 9 level access showers 

7



 
 

o 11 ramps 
o 1 garage conversion 
o 6 other 

 

 New occupational therapy recommendations were being advised of, as 
they had returned to undertaking assessments. 

 
Housing Maintenance Service 
 
 A full review of the day to day maintenance and improvements works 

services was due to be undertaken. An improvement plan, which 
included objectives alongside other improvement and change activity for 
Housing, would be presented to Cabinet in due course. 
 

 The current service continued to emerge from the impacts of the Covid-
19 pandemic. Maintenance activity had increased and more flexibility 
was introduced into day to day activities. Maintenance activity remained 
under review, as the Government reacted to increasing cases of the 
virus.  
 

 Phase 2 of backlog repairs activity continued; this involved working on 
internal repairs for up to 4 hours in tenant properties. 
 

 There were still significant supply chain issues impacting the service, 
particularly where materials were being ordered.  The furlough of key 
staff by contractors contributed to delays. 
 

 Plans were still being prepared to move to phase 3 repairs activity, 
subject to changing restrictions.   
 

 Up to the end of July, some 2643 emergency jobs had been completed 
since lockdown. Some slowdown in work activity occurred in August, this 
was due to more operatives taking their summer holiday break. 
 

 Current level of complaints associated with the service were still 
increasing, the current backlog of jobs outstanding totalled 1,916. 

 
64. Equality Annual Position Statement 
 
The Cabinet member for Communities introduced the report, presenting the 
Equality and Diversity Annual Position Statement 2020.  The Councillor 
requested that members consider the contents of the report and make 
comments, prior to its publication.  
 
The author of the report, Community Engagement and Policy Development 
Officer was introduced to the Committee and presented the contents of the 
Annual Statement.   
 

8



 
 

The Equality Act 2010, section 149, imposed a duty on public sector 
organisations, to have due regard to: 
 

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation 
 

 Advance opportunities for people who shared protected characteristics 
and those who didn’t. 
 

 Foster good relations between those who shared a protected 
characteristic and those that didn’t.   

 
These were known as the three aims of the Equality Duty.  
 
In addition, there were two more specific duties placed on public sector 
organisations, which were to:  
 

 Publish information to show compliance with the Equality Duty, at least 
annually 
 

 Set and publish equality objectives, at least every four years.   
 

The publication was to provide information which showed due regard had 
been given to the three aims of the Equality Duty and included demographic 
information, broken down by protected characteristic, of the district and 
SKDC’s workforce. 
 
The Annual Position Statement, which was found at Appendix A of the report, 
included the latest Equality Objectives which covered the period 2020 – 2024.  
An action plan had been developed which would ensure that the Authority 
delivered the required outcomes.  All services areas were required to feed in 
and help deliver those objectives.   
 
Whilst producing the Annual Statement members and officers were able to 
identify areas of underrepresentation in the Authority’s workforce.  The 
Statement would help improve awareness of equality responsibilities and 
further embed those within the workforce.   
 
Members highlighted an additional word within the Statement and asked if the 
references to the different religions could appear in a more consistent format.   
 
The Committee queried why there was such a high percentage of officers who 
had not provided information relating to their protected characteristics as part 
of equality and diversity monitoring.  Members were concerned that perhaps 
they were not provided the opportunity to give that information.  The 
Community Engagement and Policy Development Officer advised that the 
level of information an individual gave in relation to their sexuality, religion etc. 
was provided on a voluntary basis and there was no obligation to divulge it.  
All officers were asked as part of equality and diversity monitoring, however 

9



 
 

the data showed that there was a high number who did not wish to share that 
information.   
 
Members asked if there was to be further opportunity to undertake further 
equality and diversity training, as they felt what was received in the past had 
been beneficial. It was also felt that this type of training should be mandatory 
for all elected members.  It was advised that there was no mechanism to 
mandate members to undergo equality and diversity training.  Members 
Services created the training schedule and the relevant officers would be able 
to advise when further training was planned.  
 
It was discussed that the constitution was currently being reviewed and 
members asked if the review could also look at the wording for Equality and 
Diversity Training and its requirements for members to undertake it.  It was 
appreciated that whilst it was not an area that could be mandated, specific 
wording could perhaps be used to stress its importance.   
 
ACTION 
 
That the Cabinet Member for Communities ask the Constitution 
Committee to consider as part of its work in reviewing the Constitution 
the wording around the requirement for members to undertake Equality 
and Diversity Training.   
 
There were concerns that the data used to form the Statement, in relation to 
the population was based on the 2011 Census.  It was felt that the information 
was out of date and that the makeup of the population within South Kesteven 
may have changed quite considerably in that time.  It was unfortunate and 
frustrating that the information available was largely based on Mid-Year 
Population Estimates provided by the Office for National Statistic and based 
on the 2011 Census, however that was what was available to compile the data 
for the Statement and its use was standard practise.  Data would not be 
comprehensively updated until after the next Census in 2021 and some 
information would not be available until 2-3 years after it had taken place.      
 
The Chairman asked if there were any officer groups within the council that 
supported those groups within the Equality Act 2010, that had one or more 
protected characteristics.  There were no groups at that time, however it would 
be beneficial for officers to have the opportunity to join a group that supported 
those with protected characteristics.  A single group, rather than one per 
characteristic would be beneficial, as all individuals were protected under at 
least five of the nine characteristics represented in the Act.  
 
ACTION 
 
Members were in support of the Annual Statement and requested that 
comments made as part of the discussion be captured, prior to its 
publication.   

10



 
 

 
65. Feedback from the Workshop to Explore Future Working with the 

Voluntary and Community Sector 
 
A working group met on 27 July 2020 and held a workshop which discussed 
the Council’s current involvement which the voluntary and community sector.  
The membership of the working group included; members of the Rural and 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the Cabinet Member for 
Communities and relevant officers.   
 
The workshop covered five topics: 
 
• Councillors – considering the important role Members play 
• Conversation and Communication 
• Working together 
• Celebrating Community Heroes; and 
• Grants and Funding Pots. 
 
As the next item to be considered by members at the meeting was a report 
regarding Grants and Funding Pots, verbal feedback on the other 4 topics 
would be provided. 
 
Feedback from members on the first item had related specifically to the South 
Kesteven Community Hub and the support provided to communities by the 
Council and its voluntary and community sector colleagues during lockdown.  
Members felt the Community Hub had been invaluable during the Covid-19 
pandemic and the fact that information had been sent to vulnerable residents 
at the start of lockdown had ensured residents were aware of how they could 
get in touch with the Council and what assistance and support was available 
to them.   
 
Under topic two Members had discussed the introduction of a voluntary and 
community sector forum.  Members were asked if it was more important to 
focus on County wide groups or more local ones.  It was agreed that local 
groups should be the focus and that a database of local groups should be 
compiled.   
 
Members also discussed whether the introduction of an e-newsletter would 
provide an important link to communities. Members agreed this would be a 
useful tool but also advocated the use of already established communications 
such as SK Today and parish newsletters to spread the word.  It was noted 
that the website required updating and much of the information needed 
streamlining so that it was more consistent.  
 
When exploring innovative ways to integrate the delivery of services between 
the Council and the voluntary and community sector Members provided the 
following insights: 
 

11



 
 

 The Council should look to groups such as Rotary and Lions clubs for 
the larger projects that offer volunteering opportunities. These groups 
were keen to be involved in larger community projects 
 

 Volunteers should never be seen as a money saving scheme to use 
volunteers to deliver Council services 
 

 Volunteering provides mutual benefit; we can all gain a lot from the 
process.  
 

 Volunteering has a positive impact on community spirit, mental health 
and wellbeing 
 

 Volunteering can lead to employment.  Employers look favourably on 
people who volunteer as it shows local interest.  The Council should 
consider providing volunteers with certificates to prove their 
involvement 

 
Members were reminded that the work of local volunteers had been 
acknowledged with certificates of appreciation during Volunteer Week 2020.  
The workshop considered how volunteers could feel more welcomed and 
appreciated.  It was noted that volunteers did not enjoy being called ‘Heroes’ 
and much preferred the term ‘Champion’.  The Grantham Journal Business 
Awards could potentially include an award which showed appreciation for the 
work of volunteers, or the Council could consider sponsoring a Chairman’s 
award to cover the wider District.  
 
The Chairman thanked those members who took part in the workshop and 
noted that the overview provided some interesting points. 
  
66. Review of Community Funding 
 
The Cabinet Member for Communities supported by the Community 
Engagement and Policy Development Officer presented a report to Members 
which provided a review of existing community funding streams. There were 
currently three funding streams, which directly supported voluntary and 
community groups: 
 

 SK Community Fund: annual funding pot of £100,000 from 2020/21 - this 
was open to applications from constituted community groups for capital 
projects and events. Awards were determined by a panel of elected 
Members, based on agreed criteria 
 

 Ward Member Scheme: annual funding pot – originally set at £26,000 for 
2020/21 but increased to £56,000 as a direct response to the Covid-19 
outbreak.  Awards were determined by individual elected Members; and 
 

12



 
 

 Foodbank Support Fund 2020/2: one-off support fund of £15,000 for 
Foodbanks located within South Kesteven. Via the completion of a 
simple form, Foodbanks could access the fund which would support their 
operation in any way required and for any amount, whilst there was still 
budget remaining. 

 
In addition to the three funding streams there was LotterySK, which provided a 
platform for groups to raise money through lottery ticket sales.  60p of every 
ticket sale went to support local voluntary and community groups.  From each 
£1.00 ticket purchased, the group that the purchaser wished to support would 
receive 50p and the SK Community Fund would receive 10p.  If no group was 
specified, then 60p would be allocated to the SK Community Fund.   
 
It was the purpose of the report to focus specifically on the SK Community 
Fund and discuss its operation and impact.  Members of the working group 
were asked to propose amendments to its criteria.   
 
Background of the fund was provided to the Committee. The fund was 
established in 2015 and until March 2020 was administrated as part of a 
Service Level Agreement by Lincolnshire Community and Voluntary Service.  
The Fund was now managed directly by the Authority.   
 
It was highlighted to members the types of projects that the fund supported 
and the level of grants which they were eligible to receive.  The level of 
funding enabled applicants to seek up to 80% of the cost of their project.  
Since the introduction of the fund, 18 funding rounds had taken place and it 
had supported 93 capital projects and events.   
 
As the agreement between South Kesteven District Council and Lincolnshire 
Community Voluntary Service had come to an end, alongside a reduction in 
the funding pot from £150,000 to £100,000, a sensible point to review the 
criteria of the fund had been identified.  It was important that the fund 
continued to meet the needs of the community and the priorities of the 
Council.   
 
Due to the impact of Covid-19, the review, which had been scheduled for 
March 2020, could not take place.  At this point the fund had been temporarily 
closed to applications, until the necessary changes were able to take place.   
 
Covid-19 had a significant impact on communities, both financially and 
emotionally.  The proposals set out within the report were intended to 
strengthen the connection with the community groups.  The proposed 
amendments were also intended to make the fund fit better with identified 
needs in local communities, supporting the constituted groups across the 
District.   
 
Proposed changes to the criteria of the SK Community Fund, which required 
the Committee’s recommendation to Cabinet, were as follows.  

13



 
 

  

 All applications would qualify for a grant up to £5,000 towards the cost of 
their project or event, which aligned all the different categories that 
qualified to apply  
 

 Introduction of a new category which supported projects that addressed 
mental health, social and rural isolation and loneliness  
 

 The claim period for awards to be reduced from two years to one, which 
provided parity with the budget processes 
 

 The removal of parish and town councils from the eligibility criteria, as 
they had alternative means of raising revenue, such as the Town and 
Parish Precept.   

 
Members were further asked to consider and make recommendations on the 
future operation of the Fund for 2021/22 onwards, based on the following 
options: 
 

 To maintain the status quo, leaving the fund open to all eligible groups 
 

 In the first year ringfence 20% of the Fund for applications relating to 
mental health and wellbeing, loneliness and isolation 
 

 Increase focus on areas of priority and introduce a weighting mechanism 
for individual applications to score higher if the focus was on those 
priority areas 

 
The Council was currently working in collaboration with the Lincolnshire 
Community Foundation (LCF).  This was to raise funds via a Total Giving 
crowd funding initiative to support local groups, as a direct response to the 
Covid-19 crisis.  The Council would undergo further exploration with LCF of 
options of a mutual benefit and would seek support to enter into an agreement 
if a suitable option was found.   
 
It was highlighted to Members that a single grant register had been 
established, which was to reduce the risk of groups receiving double funding.  
SK Community Fund, Foodbank Support Fund and Ward Member Grant 
Scheme therefore could not unknowingly give grants to the same initiatives. 
 
Members asked if many groups had applied for a £10,000 grant and if the 
maximum funds available were reduced to £5,000 what impact would it have.  
It was advised that recent figures showed 24 applications were received 
requesting £5,000 - £10,000, only four of which requested the full £10,000.  
Reducing the maximum grant would have the potential to assist more groups. 
The grants were to be applied for as ‘match funding’ and were not intended to 
cover the whole cost of any project.   
 

14



 
 

Concern was expressed about smaller groups within the district, which 
perhaps did not have a constitution and few members to help support them.  
The Officer advised that should this be the case; the Council would be able to 
offer them advice on other routes they may take to receive funding or signpost 
them to support to put the appropriate governance in place.  There were also 
funds available to ward members, who could use their own budgets to support 
those smaller groups.   
 
It was queried if the reduction in maximum grant was introduced, would it 
reduce the application time and would groups receive grants sooner.  As the 
administration of the fund had been brough back ‘in house’, this would 
considerably reduce the administration time, as information was not needed to 
be shared between organisations.  
 
ACTION 
 
It was proposed and seconded that option 3 was the most favourable for 
the future operation of the fund in 2021/22, with priority areas receiving 
the fund’s focus.  Members unanimously agreed with the 
recommendations set out in the report.   
 
67. Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy Review and the Impact of the 

Homelessness Reduction Act: SKDC perspective 
 
Members considered the report of the Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Planning on a review of the Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy and the 
Impact of the Homelessness Reduction Act (2017).  
 
It had been two years since the Homelessness Reduction Act (2017) came 
into force in England, on 3 April 2018.  There were three main changes, which 
were: 
 

 The definition of homelessness had changed from being threatened with 
homelessness within 28 days to 56 days 
 

 The introduction of prevention and relief ‘duties’ rather than ‘powers’ 
 

 New ‘duty to refer’, which required certain statutory agencies to refer 
homeless and potentially homeless people to housing authorities (this 
was introduced in October 2018) 

 
The Local Government Information Unit (LGUI) report ‘The Homelessness 
Reduction Act: is it making a difference?”, was published on 7 May 2020. It 
incorporated findings from two reports: “A Foot in the Door” by Crisis and 
“Caught in the Act” by Shelter.  The main findings were:  
 

 People were more likely to receive personal assistance from local 
authorities, especially single adults 

15

https://www.crisis.org.uk/ending-homelessness/homelessness-knowledge-hub/services-and-interventions/a-foot-in-the-door-experiences-of-the-homelessness-reduction-act-2020/
https://england.shelter.org.uk/professional_resources/policy_and_research/policy_library/policy_library_folder/report_caught_in_the_act


 
 

 

 Councils helped about two in five households to resolve their 
homelessness problem 
 

 Just one in five households assisted through the prevention duty end up 
staying in their existing home 
 

 ‘Digital gatekeeping’ and other barriers existed at some local authorities 
 

 Personalised plans were too general and not always followed up by 
councils 
 

 The duty to refer was having limited success but did not include enough 
public bodies 

 
The report stated how the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local 
Government (MHCLG) showed figures relating to the national homelessness 
picture, including the causes of homelessness. Members were also provided 
with the SKDC comparison.   
 
It was important to look at how implementation of the Act could be improved, 
both Shelter and Crisis were adamant that the solution to homelessness did 
not lie in better legislation. Councils had made better use of their discretionary 
housing payments, to help those with rent problems or negotiate with 
landlords on the tenant’s behalf.  Many customers wanted to be seen by a 
housing officer in person, rather than via the telephone or online.   
 
The introduction of a statutory code of practice which provided a clear and 
enforceable set of standards for local authorities would hopefully improve 
standards nationwide. Better partnership working, which included the duty to 
refer across other bodies and increasing awareness of their obligations under 
the Act would also contribute to reducing homelessness.   
 
In 2017 the MHCLG provided councils in England with £73,000,000 in funding 
over three years, as part of ‘New Burdens’ funding.  It was felt that this was 
not sufficient by many local authorities. South Kesteven District Council had 
received £27,536 in New Burdens Funding.  
 
South Kesteven was part of a countywide Lincolnshire Homelessness 
Strategy (2017 – 2021) and the report highlighted several achievements made 
as a part of the Strategy.  In addition to this South Kesteven was also part of 
the Lincolnshire Rough Sleeping Strategy (2019 – 2021), a countywide action 
plan was to be drawn up to tackle the challenges identified by the Strategy.  
 
The MHCLG had advertised an opportunity to bid for a Rough Sleeper 
Initiative.  South Kesteven had submitted a bid, as the District had 
experienced a significantly increased number of rough sleepers.  This 
increase was also apparent in neighbouring Districts and the bid was 

16



 
 

submitted in partnership with; North Kesteven DC, South Holland DC and 
West Lindsey DC. An award of £595,523 was received.  The funds were to be 
used to establish several new posts across the authorities and other funding 
pots to help with the Rent Guarantee Scheme, Enhanced Bond Payments, 
Emergency Access Accommodation and Funding for Rough Sleeper Support.     
 
Members were concerned about the considerable increase in the numbers of 
homeless people across the District.  The Senior Housing and Policy Strategy 
Officer explained to members that there was now better recording and with the 
increase in figures for the definition of homeless, this was then reflected in 
much higher figures.   
 
It was queried whether empty private rented households were utilised to help 
ensure there was sufficient accommodation.  Members were advised that 
there was no longer dedicated support for that area, so officers were unsure of 
its current status. Council owned housing stock had been better utilised for 
temporary accommodation.   
 
Some members were concerned that the figures were not reflective of the 
current number of rough sleepers for each town and they feared that it was 
much higher.  Officers explained that the figures were gathered at a single 
point in time.  Some rough sleepers did so intermittently and may have been 
off the streets that night.   If a rough sleeper was identified they should be 
reported, the outreach team would try to contact them within 72 hours.  
Unfortunately, the team were not always able to make contact immediately as 
often the rough sleeper may have moved on, but the team would keep trying 
until they were able to do so.  
 
Members asked if unused office buildings had been considered to create more 
accommodation.  A property had been purchased with the potential to convert 
it into 1-bedroom flats, to be used as temporary accommodation.  
 
There were concerns that some rough sleepers perhaps may not wish to be 
assisted by the Council, members asked officers if that was an issue within 
South Kesteven.  The “Everyone In” campaign as part of the Covid-19 
Government measures had seen only 1 long standing rough sleeper refusing 
assistance.   
 
It was noted by members that other neighbouring authorities had specific 
officers whose remit was dedicated to helping rough sleepers, there was 
concern as to why South Kesteven did not have that resource.  South 
Kesteven did have a rough sleeping outreach team, the current contract was 
held by P3 charity.  The funding received was part of the successful MHCLG 
Rough Sleeping Initiative Year 3 funding, awarded to South Kesteven and 
neighbouring authorities, it would be used to recruit new officers to cover that 
remit and the prevention of homelessness.   
 
 

17



 
 

ACTION 
 
Members noted the content of the report and requested that officers’ 
feedback the Committees comments to the relevant officers and 
Lincolnshire County Council.   
 
68. Work Programme 
 
The Committee noted the contents of the Work Programme.  
 
69. Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special 

circumstances, decides is urgent 
 
The Chairman had no further business to discuss. 
 
70. Close of meeting 
 
The meeting closed at 15:27.  
 
 

18



 
 

Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
– 2020/2021 
Actions Meeting 10 September 2020 
 

 Task Assigned to Progress/Comments 

64 

1. That the Cabinet Member for Communities 
ask the Constitution Committee to consider 
as part of its work in reviewing the 
Constitution the wording around the 
requirement for members to undertake 
Equality and Diversity Training.   

Cabinet 
Member for 

Communities 

Completed - Action transferred by the Cabinet Member for 
Communities on 13 October 2020 to the Chair of the Constitution 
Committee. The Chair responded on 16 October 2020. There is 
an ongoing training programme, but training cannot be mandated 
for volunteer roles. This will be mentioned as part of the 
Constitutional Review. 

 

2. Members were in support of the Equality and 
Diversity Annual Position Statement and 
requested that comments made as part of the 
discussion be captured, prior to its 
publication.   

Community 
Engagement 
and Policy 

Development 
Officer 

Completed - Response from the Community Engagement and 
Policy Development Officer received 8 October 2020: 
 

I can confirm that the comments of the committee were 
actioned and that the Annual Position Statement for 
Equalities has been published on our website: Annual 
Position Statement 
 

65 

It was proposed and seconded that option 3 was 
the most favourable for the future operation of 
the fund in 2021/22, with priority areas receiving 
the fund’s focus.  Members unanimously agreed 
with the recommendations set out in the report.   

Community 
Engagement 
and Policy 

Development 
Officer 

Completed - Response from the Community Engagement and 
Policy Development Officer received 8 October 2020 
 

I can confirm that all of the recommendations put forward 
by the OSC have been captured in the report which goes 
to Cabinet on 13 October for approval of the changes.   
 

 
 

19

A
genda Item

 5

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8479
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8479


 
 

 Task Assigned to Progress/Comments 

67 
 
 

Members noted the content of the report and 
requested that officers’ feedback the Committees 
comments to the relevant officers and 
Lincolnshire County Council.   

Senior 
Housing 

Policy and 
Strategy 
Officer 

Completed - Response from the Senior Housing Policy and 
Strategy Officer received 14 October 2020: 
 
Item has been actioned on Wednesday 30 Sept. 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

20



 

 

 

Rural and Communities Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 

12 November 2020 

Report of: Councillor Robert Reid 

  Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Planning 

           

 

Housing Compliance Audit 2020 and Updated HRA 3 
year rolling New Build Programme 

 

 

 

Report Author 

Debbie Roberts, Corporate Project Officer 

Tel:  01476 406080 

Email:  Debbie.roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Administrative Regulatory All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Chris Stratford, Interim Assistant Director Housing 2 November 2020 

Approved by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive  3 November 2020 

Signed off by: Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing 
and Planning 

3 November 2020  

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. To review the Compliance Audit and action plan to meet the recommendations 
indicated within the audit plan and agree to receive quarterly updates on the 
progress being made within the work programme.  

2. To note and provide comments on the revised 3 year rolling HRA New Build 
Housing Investment programme, and support the principle that the housing 
service should focus on compliance priorities, utilising where necessary funds 
released through rationalising the HRA New Build Housing Investment programme 
proposals.    

21

Agenda Item 8

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

3. That Officers provide necessary updates to members regarding key performance 
and delivery of programmes to ensure capital investment and compliance 
objectives are achieved. 

4. To note that the Council has reported itself to the Regulator and jointly working 
with the Regulator towards compliance as a matter of priority.  

22



 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 A review of Housing Compliance - Gas, Electrical, Legionella, Asbestos and Fire Safety 

was undertaken at South Kesteven District Council as part of the approved internal audit 

periodic plan for 2020/21. This Housing Compliance Audit report is appended to this 

Committee report as Appendix 1.  

1.2 In 2019 the Council’s Housing Development and Improvement department and the 

Repairs department, were combined to form the Improvement and Repairs Team. This 

team was led by the Head of Improvements and Repairs. This position at the time of the 

audit was vacant. The Housing department is currently led by the Interim Assistant 

Director – Housing.  

1.3 The Council’s housing compliance safety checks are managed by the Improvement and 

Repairs Team. The Improvements Team is led by the Improvements Manager and the 

Repairs Team is led by the Repairs Manager.  

1.4 Fire safety, legionella, asbestos and gas safety are managed by the Improvement Team 

and the checks/servicing is undertaken by Council appointed contractors. The electrical 

safety checks are the responsibility of the Repairs Team.   

1.5 A stock condition database and the asbestos register are maintained on the APEX 

system. The gas, solid fuel, oil fuelled, legionella, electrical and fire safety checks/ 

servicing programmes are managed and maintained on a series of excel spreadsheets. 

1.6 This review has confirmed that the Council does not have adequate controls for housing 

compliance - gas, electrical, legionella, asbestos and fire safety in place The auditors 

identified gaps in the control framework and weaknesses in adherence to the controls for 

managing housing compliance safety checks.  

1.7 The audit concluded that there are seven high, eight medium and one low priority 

management actions.  

2 The key findings from the report were: 

2.1 The following controls are operating effectively in practice: 

2.2 The supply and provision of high visibility jackets for Fire Wardens are the responsibility of 

Corporate Operations to co-ordinate centrally. Personal protective equipment stocks are 

not maintained and are ordered on an individual basis; 

2.3 The objective of the Housing Asset Management Strategy is to guide the future shape and 

direction of the Council’s housing assets to ensure they meet corporate objectives and 

customer expectations and sets out the frequency of housing compliance safety checks; 

2.4 Right to Buy applications and all relevant works carried out on void properties are notified 

to the Stock Database Officer to update the stock condition database. The Stock 

Database Officer then notifies all the relevant staff in the Improvement and Repairs Team; 

and 

2.5 The gas programme is managed by the gas contractor although the gas safety 

programme is maintained by the Council on a spreadsheet and includes the last safety 

check and the next safety check due date. 

 

 

23



 

 
 

3 The audit identified the following findings where management actions 

were agreed: 

3.1 For solid fuel, fire safety and legionella, the programme is held on a spreadsheet. The 

spreadsheets do not include key information like the last safety check, next safety checks 

and any notes relating to remedial actions or access to the property; (High) 

3.2 For electrical testing, it was noted a testing programme for 2020 has not been 

implemented. The housing management system and the stock condition database is not 

reconciled to the housing compliance safety checks/servicing programmes to ensure that 

every property is accounted for; (High) 

3.3 For sheltered accommodation/communal areas, fire alarm testing, extinguisher checks 

and  emergency lighting checks are undertaken. On matching the fire alarm testing, 

extinguisher checks and emergency lighting checks programmes, eight sheltered 

accommodations/communal areas were identified where one or more of these checks was 

not being undertaken; (High) 

3.4 For gas, electrical, fire safety and legionella a log of remedial actions (further 

actions/improvements required) is not maintained and testing at this visit has highlighted 

that the further actions/improvements required are not always followed up, an audit trail is 

not always maintained of actions taken if any and monitoring is not undertaken to ensure 

that the remedial actions identified have been actioned; (High) 

3.5 Certificates/servicing records for the housing compliance safety checks undertaken are 

not maintained in a central location. For example, the electrical certificates may be 

retained by Repairs or by the Improvement Team within their project files. For a sample of 

20, in six cases the electrical certificates were not provided to us and in 12 cases the 

electrical certificates for works carried out at the property were provided instead of the 

actual electrical testing certificates; (High)  

3.6 An external contractor undertook the fire risk assessments in 2017. Currently there are no 

arrangements in place (a contract with a fire safety contractor is not in place for this 

service). The previous management action identified, in our February 2019 audit report, 

the need for full survey and risk assessments of the fire integrity of sheltered 

accommodation to be undertaken yet in this audit it has not been undertaken. Council 

policy requires fire risk assessments to be reviewed annually, however we noted that the 

fire risk assessments have not been subject to this annual review in 2020; (High) 

3.7 Senior Management and the Council are not provided with regular reports (and core KPI 

data) on the performance of housing compliance safety checks; (High) 

3.8 An up to date Housing Asset Management Strategy is not in place. The last Asset 

Management Strategy was prepared and approved in 2013 and covered the five year 

period between 2013 and 2018; (Medium) 

3.9 Up to date housing compliance safety checks policies and procedures are not in place; 

(Medium) 

3.10 Training/refresher training records for the Improvement Team was not maintained up to 

date at the time of the audit; fire awareness training was started by three members of staff 

in July 2019, February 2020 and July 2020 however this has not been completed; 

monitoring of training is not undertaken to ensure the training matrix/training records is 

maintained up to date; (Medium) 

24



 

 
 

3.11 Fire safety testing identified that for a sample of five blocks: in 16 cases the fire alarm 

testing was undertaken between four and 14 days after the last test and in two cases the 

fire alarm servicing was undertaken at every three months instead of every six months. 

For fire alarm servicing, fire extinguisher servicing and emergency lighting testing the 

spreadsheets do not always include the date of the previous visit and test; (Medium) 

3.12 For a sample of 20 properties, testing of solid fuel checks identified that in one case 

access to the property has not been gained since 2018 and in two cases was not gained 

in 2019. For the two properties with oil fuel the contractor highlighted that the tanks were 

too close to  the fence/house. An escalation process is not in place and it could not be 

established if any review/action was undertaken; (Medium) 

3.13 Internal quality assurance audits are not undertaken on housing compliance safety 

checks/servicing to assure the works undertaken by the operatives/contractors; (Medium) 

3.14 A review of the Asbestos Register identified 1,675 property records where the records are 

documented as active however no further details are recorded for the properties; 

(Medium) 

3.15 On completion of asbestos surveys, the contractor provides the Council with a PDF of the 

survey report, however the results of the survey are only uploaded to the Asbestos 

Register when the spreadsheet is received from the contractor every three months. For 

repairs, on testing information being provided to operatives and contractors it was noted 

that asbestos is not flagged on the housing system and as a result for each repairs job the 

staff are required to check manually for the most up to date asbestos information; 

(Medium) and 

3.16 The Council’s web page does not include information on safety in the home regarding 

legionnaires disease, preventing mould, damp and condensation, annual gas/other fuel 

servicing, and asbestos. (Low) 

4 The Compliance Audit includes detailed findings and actions to be 

completed by dates in brackets. The key actions are:  

4.1 The last safety check and next safety check date will be recorded on the housing 

compliance programmes maintained on spreadsheets (by 31st December 2020)  

4.2 The Council will investigate implementing a software system to maintain and manage the 

housing compliance safety checks/servicing programmes (complete) 

4.3 An electrical testing programme will be implemented (31st January 2021) 

4.4 The Council will agree a frequency at which the programmes will be reconciled (31st 

January 2021) 

4.5 The gas, solid fuel, oil fuelled, legionella, asbestos, electrical and fire safety 

programmes/records will then be reconciled to the housing management system and stock 

condition database at the agreed frequency. (31st December 2020)  

4.6 Eight records were identified where one or more of the checks (alarm servicing, fire 

extinguisher checks and/or emergency lighting) was not being undertaken at the property. 

For the eight cases identified a review will be undertaken to identify the checks to be 

undertaken and they will be undertaken accordingly (31st December 2020)  

25



 

 
 

4.7 A log of remedial actions identified for housing compliance safety checks/servicing on gas, 

solid fuel, oil fired, electrical and fire safety will be maintained documenting the remedial 

actions, the target date for resolving the actions and the date the actions were resolved.  

4.8 This log will be subject to regular monitoring to ensure that the remedial actions are 

resolved and on a timely basis (31st December 2020)  

4.9 Certificates/servicing records for gas (including solid fuel and oil fuelled), legionella, 

electrical testing and fire safety will be maintained on a central location on the server and 

will be made available to all the appropriate staff (31st December 2020)  

4.10 The Council will implement a contract for fire safety (31st January 2021) 

4.11 A full survey and risk assessment of the fire integrity of sheltered accommodation and flats 

will be arranged (31st October 2020) 

4.12 Going forward the fire risk assessments will be subject to annual review (31st December 

2020) 

4.13 A suite of performance information for housing compliance - gas, electrical, legionella, 

asbestos and fire safety will be agreed by Council (31st December 2020)  

4.14 Performance management reports will be produced and reviewed each month by the 

Repairs Manager, Improvements Manager and the Assistant Director Housing for gas, 

electrical, fire safety, legionella and asbestos (31st December 2020)  

4.15 As a minimum the Council will be provided with performance and KPI data on housing 

compliance: gas, electrical, fire safety, legionella and asbestos every quarter (31st 

December 2020)  

4.16 An up to date Housing Asset Management Strategy will be Implemented (31st December 

2020) 

4.17 The frequency of the review of the Housing Asset Management Strategy will be agreed 

and reviewed accordingly including the addition of version control. (31st December 2020) 

4.18 Once a full review of the Asset Management Strategy has been completed appropriate 

consultation with tenants and leaseholders will be undertaken. (31st December 2020)  

4.19 The Housing Asset Management Strategy will be disseminated to all the relevant staff 

(31st December 2020)  

4.20 Electrical safety procedures will be implemented for tenanted and sheltered housing 

properties. 

4.21 Fire safety procedures will be implemented for housing properties. 

4.22 The following policies/procedures will be reviewed and updated as required: (31st 

December 2020)  

1. Asbestos Management Policy. 

2. Asbestos Removal Procedures to Contractor - Voids. 

3. Property Services Asbestos Management Strategy. 

4. Procedures to ensure servicing of gas burning appliances within Council 

owned housing stock.  

5. Fire Safety. 

26



 

 
 

6. Shower Head Procedure – Voids. 

4.23 There are three members of staff who should complete their online fire awareness training 

(completed)  

4.24 The Improvements Team training matrix will be maintained up to date (completed)  

4.25 A monitoring system will be put into place for Managers to ensure all relevant health and 

safety training and job-related training has been undertaken and the matrix is maintained 

up to date (completed)  

4.26 All relevant staff and contractors will be reminded to ensure that the housing compliance 

safety checks for gas, oil fuel, solid fuel, legionella, fire safety and electrical is undertaken 

in accordance to the timescales set by the Council. (completed)  

4.27 The Council will review and agree the escalation procedures based on the risk to the 

Council and statutory/regulatory requirements (completed)  

4.28 The escalation procedures will then be applied according to the agreed escalation 

procedures. (30th November 2020)  

4.29 An audit trial of the escalation will be maintained. (30th November 2020)  

4.30 The Council will agree the housing compliance areas where internal quality assurance 

checks will be undertaken. (31st December 2020)  

4.31 The checks will then be undertaken accordingly. (31st December 2020)  

4.32 Monitoring will be undertaken to ensure that the required internal quality assurance 

audits/checks are being undertaken. (31st December 2020)  

4.33 The 1,675 records on the asbestos register will be investigated (31st December 2020)  

4.34 The Council will engage/discuss with the asbestos contractor with a view of obtaining the 

asbestos information for uploading to the stock condition database on a more frequent 

basis. (31st December 2020)  

4.35 The Council will investigate introducing a flag for asbestos on the housing/repairs system 

(31st December 2020)  

4.36 The Council’s web page to include information on safety in the home regarding 

legionnaires disease (this only applies to homes with communal water tank facilities and 

not domestic homes), preventing mould, damp and condensation, annual gas/other fuel 

servicing and asbestos (30th November 2020).  

5 Revised HRA 3 year rolling programme 

5.1 Given that the focus of the housing team will be actioning the improvement plan, achieving 

compliance, and the actions highlighted above the HRA new build programme has been 

rationalised accordingly, to ensure robust target delivery objectives, release funds for 

stock improvement activities and focus investment proposals over a more reliable timeline 

of 3 years. 

5.2 Background to the Programme  

5.3 The key outcomes in the 2017-2021 Housing Strategy includes the following: 

5.4 Maximising Council investment in affordable housing using traditional, off-site and modular 

construction options. 

27



 

 
 

5.5 The continued delivery of Council housing to meet social housing needs. 

5.6 Best use of existing land and property that can be converted to housing as quickly as 

possible.   

5.7 Cabinet approved the progression of feasibility work on 10 Council owned sites in January 

2018 with the potential to deliver around 105 new homes in the district.    

5.8 Further work was subsequently carried out on these and other Council owned sites to 

determine potential routes for delivery of new housing schemes as part of a wider 

assessment of options for strategic housing delivery in South Kesteven.  

5.9 The appraisal of other Council sites in addition to the initial ten approved by Cabinet at 5.3 

has also been carried out because of increased levels of housing need for one-bedroom 

accommodation. In addition, A review of several Council garage sites has been completed 

to identify those with development potential for this type of accommodation and proposals 

are being progressed. The availability of funding arising from planning section 106 

commuted sums towards the development of affordable homes. The commuted sums are 

time limited so two Council sites have been identified to utilise these funds towards the 

provision of affordable homes in Bourne and Stamford.  

6 Development programme previously 

6.1 A number of schemes have been developed further from the initial feasibility carried out. 

The schemes, including those at section 2.0 had been progressed with the outcome 

detailed in the table below: 

 

 
Current Housing Development Programme 2019-20 

  

Location Details No of Homes Targeted 
Start on Site 

Overall 
Budget 

Outcome 

Earlesfield 
Lane 
Grantham 

Council owned 
land 

4 x 1-bed homes – 
modular 

construction 

2018-19 £0.8m Completed 19-20 

Kinoulton 
Court  
Grantham 

Council owned 
land 

10 x 1-bed homes 
– modular 

construction 

2018-19 £1.3m Completed 19-20 

Former 
Blessed Hugh 
Moore School 
Grantham  

Council owned 
land 

85 homes 2019-20 £9m Withdrawn 

Trinity Road,  
Stamford 

Council owned 
land 

5 x 1 and 2 bed 
bungalows 

2019-20 £0.9m Start on site 
deferred to 20-21 

Meadow 
Close 
Bourne 

Council owned 
land 

7 x 1 and 2 bed 
bungalows and 

flats 

2019-20 £0.8m Start on site 
deferred to 20-21 

Low Road, 
Barrowby 

Acquisition 25 homes 2019-20 £3m Planning refused 

Beaufort 
Drive, Bourne 

Acquisition 30 homes 2019-20 £4.35m Planning not 
submitted 

Swinegate, 
Grantham 

Council owned 
land 

24 homes 2019-20 £3.68m Deferred to 20-21 

Kesteven Rd, 
Stamford 

Council owned 
land 

23 homes 2019-20 £2.76m Deferred to 22-23 

28



 

 
 

6.2 The impact of Covid-19 has resulted in some sites being deferred to 2020-2021 as 

detailed in the table above. 

6.3 Feasibility work on other sites in the pipeline has been ongoing to determine the more 

deliverable sites and provide continuity in the Council’s supply of new homes in the 

district. This in line with the preferred options for delivery detailed at item 0 above.  

6.4 Development programme going forward 

6.5 Due to the uncertainty around the acquisition of properties via another developer as 

detailed in the table above, acquisitions have been taken out of the Development 

programme. Any future acquisitions will be presented to Cabinet for approval in the form of 

a business case. 

6.6 For further certainty on budget spend for members, we have reduced the Development 

programme to a 3 year rolling programme which will allow the Development Team to 

report on more accurate forecasting. 

6.7 The table below outlines the new proposed Development programme based on a 3 year 

spend and no acquisitions.  

 

7 Working with other Providers 

7.1 The Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) highlights the need for all sizes of 

housing from one bed units upwards.  The open market housing is currently providing two 

bedroom upwards in the form of houses. There is very limited development of special 

needs and elderly accommodation being provided across the district and this is an area 

that has been highlighted in the SHMA.  The other housing type being overlooked is 

bungalow accommodation, the reason being that this type of accommodation is ‘land 

hungry’ expensive to develop with lesser financial returns. 

7.2 The affordable housing provisions across the area is very similar to that of the private 

market.   The following percentage types of affordable accommodation required is as 

follows: 

One bedroom - 10/15% 

Two bedroom -  40/45% 

Three bedroom -  30/35% 

Four bedrooms + -  10/15% 

7.3 The one- and two-bedroom requirement includes the need for one- and two-bedroom 

bungalows for the over 55’s which should all be developed with physical disabilities in 

mind. 

7.4 Planning gain sites are picking up the need for affordable two- and three-bedroom houses 

and marginally four-bedroom houses following negotiations with developers. The Council’s 

Financial Year Budget Amount Homes Delivered 

   

21-22 £10.5m 46 

22-23 £15m 130 

23-24 £18.5m 173 
 

29



 

 
 

Development programme has provided some much needed one- and two-bedroom 

properties in the form of flats and some bungalows.  

7.5 The Council’s RP partners working in partnership with the Council are attempting to 

provide general needs housing consisting of all size accommodation based on the above 

percentages in Grantham, Stamford and Bourne. The tenure on these sites are based on 

the SHMA recommendation of 60% affordable rent and 40% affordable home ownership.  

However, these developments are not meeting the affordable housing needs across South 

Kesteven in the quantity required, especially affordable rented (both social and 

affordable). 

7.6 Therefore, the areas needed to be concentrated on are as follows: - 

Size and Type of 

Accommodation 

Tenure Type Comments 

   

One-bedroom flats Social rent Requirement would be for 

a development of 

supported 

accommodation for the 

vulnerable homeless. 

One bedroom 

terraced/quarter houses 

Social and affordable rent Available for ‘move-on’ 

accommodation from the 

supported unit(s) in the 

four main towns 

One-bedroom bungalows Social and affordable rent Available for all ages, but 

with particular attention 

paid to developing around 

a ‘core’ of extra care and 

care home facilities, 

especially in Stamford, 

Bourne and then the 

Deepings 

Two-bedroom 

houses/flats 

Social and affordable rent The affordable rented are 

currently being provided 

on planning gain sites and 

RP sites (with funding 

support) so efforts should 

be made to concentrate 

on social rent  

Three-bedroom houses Social and affordable rent As above 

 

7.7 The Council are also working with Registered Provider partners on ‘Rural Exception’ sites 

to meet the needs of the local community and also ‘Entry Level’ sites to bring forward a 

wider affordable housing tenure form for the wider South Kesteven community, working 

with both RP’s and private developers.  The biggest issue in SK is affordability especially 

in the southern part of the District. 

7.8 Homes England 

30



 

 
 

7.9 The Council has just been awarded £87,000 from the Ministry of Housing, Communities 

and Local Government for the Next Steps Accommodation Programme, to provide 

temporary accommodation for rough sleepers. In accessing this grant money, the Council 

will become an Investment Partner. 

7.10 Homes England have announced the next Affordable Homes Programme for 2021-2026. It 

is our intention to bid for grant for the Development programme on a Continuous Market 

Engagement basis, meaning we will bid for each site on its individual merit. This will 

ensure the Council will still use funds from Right To Buy receipts and it’s 1 for 1 obligation 

which cannot be used alongside the grant funding. 

8 Reinvesting in our own Stock 

8.1 The HRA will refocus the balance of Capital budget in reinvesting in our own housing 

stock. 

8.2 Budget bids have been prepared for the 2021-22 financial year with more emphasis on 

Compliance, Carbon Reduction, Fuel Poverty, SAP Ratings, and general modernisation of 

the existing stock. 

8.3 Emphasis will be on the Heating and Ventilation of our ‘off-grid’ stock. Electric heating 

upgrades to properties with electric heating such as storage heaters or electric radiators.  

8.4 In the region of 600 council properties still have solid fuel heating, an enhanced 

programme is due to begin from 21/22 on removing solid fuel heating and replacing with 

electric heating with the addition of solar panels and battery storage.  

8.5 There are emerging issues with previously installed electric heating where solid fuel has 

been removed and these mainly focus around fuel poverty. An Overarching Strategy for 

Energy Efficiency is required to determine the objectives of the Council to minimise our 

Carbon Footprint without adding to the fuel poverty of our tenants. This would include the 

need to identify programmes to improve the thermal efficiency, energy conservation, and 

SAP rating of existing homes. 

9 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

9.1 Members were invited to attend an all Councillor briefing on the 3rd November 2020 to 

receive a presentation on the Compliance Audit and the amended HRA 3 year rolling new 

build programme where they were able to ask questions about the findings and 

implementation of the recommendations.  

9.2 This report will also be submitted to Governance and Audit Scrutiny Committee on the 

19th November 2020 for their consideration also given that the audit findings from RSM 

are standard agenda items for that Committee.  

9.3 The Council has reported itself to the Regulator for the non-compliance and a letter will be 

received by all tenants on or around the 4th November 2020 outlining the findings of this 

report and the next steps.  

10 Available Options Considered 

10.1 The Council could have chosen not to report the findings of the Compliance Audit to the 

Regulator and completed the works required. This would be extremely high risk in case 

there had been an incident at one of our properties.  

11 Preferred Option 

31



 

 
 

11.1 The Committee to note and approve the findings and recommendations in the Compliance 

Audit and endorse the revised HRA 3 year rolling programme with a revised focus on 

improvements and achieving compliance as soon as reasonably practicable given the 

need some fundamental works to be completed such as a stock condition survey on all 

Council properties and implementation of a new compliance IT system for maintenance.  

12 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

12.1 The Council is required to undertake a lot of remediation work to be compliant in the 

housing and improvement service that it provides its tenants. It is unacceptable that we 

are non-compliant and as such reported ourselves to the Regulator.  

13 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

13.1 All tenants will have received a letter outlining the findings of the compliance audit and that 

they will be contacted about accessing their property. Further tenant information is 

available on a new web page and this will be reviewed and updated to ensure this 

provides ongoing detail for tenants seeking further information. 

13.2 A section on the Councils website will be dedicated to the Compliance Audit, information 

about the Regulator, some frequently asked questions and also a telephone number and 

dedicated email for any queries from tenants.  

13.3 A Communications Strategy has been drafted and a Leadership team (including the Chief 

Executive and Leader of the Council) are meeting weekly to monitor progress.  

14 Financial Implications  

14.1 The HRA financial business plan and supporting financial framework will need to be 

reviewed in light of the emerging pressures to respond to the compliance issues and the 

change of emphasis for the capital programme.  This shift in focus will be considered and 

put forward as part of the budget preparation work that is currently underway. 

14.2 There will be significant implications on the improvement budget but the full extent of the 

need for additional funding will not be known until the stock condition survey has been 

completed, and a new Asset Management and revised HRA Business Plan are developed 

in the latter part of 2021.  

14.3 IT system upgrade costs for the installation and commissioning of the Housing Technical 

Services compliance system will need to be considered for approval during the current 

financial year due to the urgency to respond to the audit findings. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

15 Legal and Governance Implications  

15.1 The Council has a legal obligation to its tenants which is why it has reported itself to the 

Regulator.  

15.2 The audit report highlights failure to comply with regulations and lack of governance on 

some work streams.  

15.3 There is significant work to be done by the housing service which is all outlined in the 

action plan and timelines.  

15.4 Given the seriousness of the issues raised, the Council must ensure that the immediate 

risks are rectified in accordance with the timescales; and that systemic changes to 

32



 

 
 

housing management are implemented. The Monitoring Officer has additional powers to 

report on breaches of the law, should the improvements not be made. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance 

16 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

16.1 No equality and safeguarding implications. 

17 Risk and Mitigation 

17.1 There are significant risks currently in the areas that the Council are non-compliant with. 

The Council needs to focus on rectifying these as soon as possible.  

18 Community Safety Implications  

18.1 N/A 

19 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

19.1 N/A 

20 Other Implications (where significant)  

20.1 None 

21 Background Papers 

21.1 RSM Housing Compliance Audit  

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

Not required 

Previously Considered by: Rural and 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

Not applicable 

Final Decision date   Not applicable 

 

33



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 
 

 

SOUTH KESTEVEN DISTRICT COUNCIL  
Housing Compliance - Gas, Electrical, Legionella, Asbestos and Fire Safety 
Internal Audit Report 3.20/21 

FINAL  

20 October 2020 

This report is solely for the use of the persons to whom it is addressed. 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP will accept no responsibility or liability in respect of this report to any other party.  

35

A
ppendix 1



    

 
 

   2
 

 

Why we completed this audit 
With the use of secure portals for the transfer of information, and through 
electronic communication means, remote working has meant that we have 
been able to complete our audit and provide you with the assurance you 
require. It is these exceptional circumstances which mean that 100 per cent of 
our audit has been conducted remotely. Based on the information provided by 
you, we have been able to sample test.  

A review of Housing Compliance - Gas, Electrical, Legionella, Asbestos and 
Fire Safety was undertaken at South Kesteven District Council as part of the 
approved internal audit periodic plan for 2020/21. 

In 2019 the Council’s Housing Development and Improvement department 
and the Repairs department were combined to form the Improvement and 
Repairs Team. This team was led by the Head of Improvement and Repairs. 
This position is currently vacant. The Housing directorate is currently led by 
the Interim Assistant Director – Housing.  

The Council’s housing compliance safety checks are managed by the 
Improvement and Repairs Team. The Improvements Team is led by the 
Improvements Manager and the Repairs Team is led by the Repairs Manager.  

Fire safety, legionella, asbestos and gas safety are managed by the 
Improvement Team and the checks/servicing is undertaken by Council 
appointed contractors. The electrical safety checks are the responsibility of the 
Repairs Team.   

A stock condition database and the asbestos register are maintained on a 
bespoke system. The gas, solid fuel, oil fuelled, legionella, electrical and fire 
safety checks/servicing programmes are managed and maintained on excel 
spreadsheets. 

 

 

Conclusion  
This review has confirmed that the Council does not have adequate controls 
for housing compliance - gas, electrical, legionella, asbestos and fire safety in 
place. We identified gaps in the control framework and weaknesses in 
adherence to the controls for managing housing compliance safety checks 
and have agreed seven ‘high’, eight ‘medium’ and one ‘low’ priority 
management actions. Further details are provided in Section 2 of this report.   

Internal audit opinion: 

Taking account of the issues 
identified, the Council cannot 
take assurance that the 
controls upon which the Council 
relies to manage this risk are 
suitably designed, consistently 
applied or effective. Action 
needs to be taken to ensure 
risks relating to housing 
compliance safety checks are 
effectively managed.  

 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

36



 

3 
 

 

Key findings 
We confirmed that the following controls are operating effectively in practice: 

 

The supply and provision of high visibility jackets for Fire Wardens are the responsibility of Corporate Operations to co-ordinate centrally.  Personal 
protective equipment stocks are not maintained and are ordered on an individual basis;  

 

The objective of the Housing Asset Management Strategy is to guide the future shape and direction of the Council’s housing assets to ensure they 
meet corporate objectives and customer expectations and sets out the frequency of housing compliance safety checks; 

 

Right to Buy applications and all relevant works carried out on void properties are notified to the Stock Database Officer to update the stock condition 
database. The Stock Database Officer then notifies all the relevant staff in the Improvement and Repairs Team; and  

 

The gas programme is managed by the gas contractor although the gas safety programme is maintained by the Council on a spreadsheet and 
includes the last safety check and the next safety check due date. 

We identified the following findings where management actions were agreed: 

 

For solid fuel, fire safety and legionella, the programme is held on a spreadsheet. The spreadsheets do not include key information like the last safety 
check, next safety checks and any notes relating to remedial actions or access to the property; (High) 

 

For electrical testing, it was noted a testing programme for 2020 has not been implemented. The housing management system and the stock 
condition database is not reconciled to the housing compliance safety checks/servicing programmes to ensure that every property is accounted for; 
(High) 

 

For sheltered accommodation/communal areas, fire alarm testing, extinguisher checks and emergency lighting checks are undertaken. On matching 
the fire alarm testing, extinguisher checks and emergency lighting checks programmes, eight sheltered accommodations/communal areas were 
identified where one or more of these checks was not being undertaken; (High) 

 

For gas, electrical, fire safety and legionella a log of remedial actions (further actions/improvements required) is not maintained and testing at this visit 
has highlighted that the further actions/improvements required are not always followed up, an audit trail is not always maintained of actions taken if 
any and monitoring is not undertaken to ensure that the remedial actions identified have been actioned; (High) 

 

Certificates/servicing records for the housing compliance safety checks undertaken are not maintained in a central location. For example, the electrical 
certificates may be retained by Repairs or by the Improvement Team within their project files. For a sample of 20, in six cases the electrical certificates 
were not provided to us and in 12 cases the electrical certificates for works carried out at the property were provided instead of the actual electrical 
testing certificates; (High) 

 

37



 

4 
 

 

 

An external contractor undertook the fire risk assessments in 2017. Currently there are no arrangements in place (a contract with a fire safety 
contractor is not in place for this service). The previous management action identified, in our February 2019 audit report, the need for full survey and 
risk assessments of the fire integrity of sheltered accommodation to be undertaken yet in this audit it has not been undertaken. Council policy requires 
fire risk assessments to be reviewed annually, however we noted that the fire risk assessments have not been subject to this annual review in 2020; 
(High) 

 

Senior Management and the Council are not provided with regular reports (and core KPI data) on the performance of housing compliance safety 
checks; (High) 

 

An up to date Housing Asset Management Strategy is not in place. The last Asset Management Strategy was prepared and approved in 2013 and 
covered the five year period between 2013 and 2018; (Medium) 

 

Up to date housing compliance safety checks policies and procedures are not in place; (Medium) 

 

Training/refresher training records for the Improvement Team was not maintained up to date at the time of the audit; fire awareness training was 
started by three members of staff in July 2019, February 2020 and July 2020 however this has not been completed; monitoring of training is not 
undertaken to ensure the training matrix/training records is maintained up to date; (Medium) 

 

Fire safety testing identified that for a sample of five blocks: in 16 cases the fire alarm testing was undertaken between four and 14 days after the last 
test and in two cases the fire alarm servicing was undertaken at every three months instead of every six months. For fire alarm servicing, fire 
extinguisher servicing and emergency lighting testing the spreadsheets do not always include the date of the previous visit and test; (Medium) 

 

For a sample of 20 properties, testing of solid fuel checks identified that in one case access to the property has not been gained since 2018 and in two 
cases was not gained in 2019. For the two properties with oil fuel the contractor highlighted that the tanks were too close to the fence/house. An 
escalation process is not in place and it could not be established if any review/action was undertaken; (Medium) 

 

Internal quality assurance audits are not undertaken on housing compliance safety checks/servicing to assure the works undertaken by the 
operatives/contractors; (Medium) 

 

A review of the Asbestos Register identified 1,675 property records where the records are documented as active however no further details are 
recorded for the properties; (Medium) 

 

 

 

 

38



 

5 
 

 

 

On completion of asbestos surveys, the contractor provides the Council with a PDF of the survey report, however the results of the survey are only 
uploaded to the Asbestos Register when the spreadsheet is received from the contractor every three months. For repairs, on testing information being 
provided to operatives and contractors it was noted that asbestos is not flagged on the housing system and as a result for each repairs job the staff are 
required to check manually for the most up to date asbestos information; (Medium) and  

 

The Council’s web page does not include information on safety in the home regarding legionnaires disease, preventing mould, damp and 
condensation, annual gas/other fuel servicing, and asbestos. (Low) 

 

39



 

6 
 

 

DETAILED FINDINGS AND ACTIONS 
 

This report has been prepared by exception. We have therefore only included in this section those areas of weakness in control or examples of lapses in 
control identified from our testing and not the outcome of all internal audit testing undertaken. 

Objective: A compliance audit to confirm policies and procedures are being consistently, effectively and efficiently applied: ensuring that all 
statutory responsibilities are met. 

Control 
 

The last safety check and next safety check date are clearly identified within the property system or similar 
for each property and can be used to identify those properties requiring checks. 

Assessment: 

Design 
Compliance 

 

 
× 

Findings / 
Implications 

There is currently no spreadsheet for the electrical safety check programme.   
For the gas safety check programme managed by the gas contractor the gas programme is maintained on the Project Sheet Gas 
Servicing spreadsheet and includes the last safety check and the next safety check date.   
For solid fuel, fire safety checks and legionella, the housing compliance safety checks/servicing programmes are maintained as project 
sheets (as used in Improvements for major works) and as a result key information such as the last safety check, next safety checks and 
any notes relating to remedial actions or access is not recorded on these spreadsheets.  
The Council's oil fuelled properties are not recorded on a spreadsheet as there are only two properties and these are serviced by the gas 
contractor. Where key information such as the last safety check and next safety check is not recorded on spreadsheets containing the 
housing compliance safety checks/testing programmes, there is a risk that the housing compliance checks may not be managed 
effectively resulting in compliance checks not being undertaken within the required timescales. 

Management 
Action 1 

a) The last safety check and next safety check date will be 
recorded on the housing compliance programmes maintained on 
spreadsheets.  

b) The Council will investigate implementing a software system to 
maintain and manage the housing compliance safety 
checks/servicing programmes. 

Responsible Owner: 
a) Housing Head of Technical Services 
b) Interim Assistant Director of Housing 
 

Date: 
a) 31 
December 
2020 
b) 31 October 
2020 

Priority: 
High 

 

 

 

 

40



 

7 
 

 

Objective: A compliance audit to confirm policies and procedures are being consistently, effectively and efficiently applied: ensuring that all 
statutory responsibilities are met. 

Control 
 

Missing Control  

The gas (including solid fuel and oil fuelled), legionella, asbestos, electrical and fire safety programmes/ 
records are reconciled to the housing management system to ensure that every property is accounted for. 

Assessment: 

Design 
Compliance 

 

× 
- 

Findings / 
Implications 

The gas, solid fuel, oil fuelled, legionella, electrical and fire safety programmes are managed and maintained on excel spreadsheets.  
For electrical testing, it was noted that currently a programme is not in place.  
A stock reconciliation was carried out of the stock condition database and the housing system in July 2020.  
It was noted that the safety programmes are not reconciled to the housing management system and the stock condition database to 
ensure that every property is account for on the safety programme.  
For a sample of 20 properties where solid fuel is in use, testing identified that in five cases solid fuel was no longer in use at the properties 
however the properties were still on the solid fuel programme spreadsheet.  
There is a risk that for properties where there have been changes for example new properties, change of heating systems, new gas 
installations etc may not be identified and servicing/safety checks may not take place. 

Management 
Action 2 

a) An electrical testing programme will be implemented 

b) The Council will agree a frequency at which the programmes 
will be reconciled.    

c) The gas, solid fuel, oil fuelled, legionella, asbestos, electrical 
and fire safety programmes/records will then be reconciled to the 
housing management system and stock condition database at the 
agreed frequency.  
Management Comment: Note new compliance system to be 
acquired and commissioned by December 2020. 

Responsible Owner: 
a) Housing Head of Technical Services 
b) Housing Head of Technical Services 
c) Interim Assistant Director of Housing 

Date: 
a) 31 January 
2021 
b) 31 January 
2021 
c) 31 
December 
2020 

Priority: 
High 

41



 

8 
 

 

Objective: A compliance audit to confirm policies and procedures are being consistently, effectively and efficiently applied: ensuring that all 
statutory responsibilities are met. 

Control 
 

For sheltered accommodation and communal area fire safety checks, fire alarm servicing, fire extinguisher to 
blocks and emergency lighting checks are undertaken. 

Assessment: 

Design 
Compliance 

 

 
× 

Findings / 
Implications 

The fire safety check programme/records are maintained on three spreadsheets - fire alarm servicing, fire extinguisher to blocks and 
emergency lighting.  

The three spreadsheets were matched to ensure that all the fire safety fire alarm servicing, fire extinguisher to blocks and emergency 
lighting checks are being undertaken at all blocks and/or communal areas.   

Eight records were identified where one or more of the checks (alarm servicing, fire extinguisher checks and/or emergency lighting) was 
not being undertaken at the property.   

There is a risk that where regular reconciliations are not undertaken properties/communal areas that require checks and servicing may be 
missed resulting in an increased risk of fire. 

Management 
Action 3 

For the eight cases identified a review will be undertaken to 
identify the checks to be undertaken and they will be undertaken 
accordingly.  

Management Comment: Note these issues to be resolved by 
commissioning of new housing compliance software system - 
operational subject to procurement by December 2020. 

Responsible Owner: 
Housing Head of Technical Services 

Date: 
31 December 
2020 

Priority: 
High 

 

Objective: A compliance audit to confirm policies and procedures are being consistently, effectively and efficiently applied: ensuring that all 
statutory responsibilities are met. 

Control 
 

Actions identified from safety inspections and risk assessments are adequately and accurately recorded and 
followed up to ensure completion. 

Assessment: 

Design 
Compliance 

 

 
× 

Findings / 
Implications 

Testing of housing compliance safety checks/servicing for gas, solid fuel, oil fired, electrical, and fire safety identified that any remedial 
actions/improvements identified:  
- A log of remedial actions/improvements is not maintained.  

42



 

9 
 

 

- Are not always followed up.  
- Where followed up an audit trial was not always traceable/maintained of actions taken to resolve the action/improvement.  
- The remedial actions/improvements are not monitored to ensure that they have been actioned and on a timely basis.  
Fire Safety:  
For the sample of five blocks we were not able to establish if the remedial actions identified/highlighted on the fire risk assessment had 
been acted upon/resolved.   
There is an increased fire risk where remedial actions identified are not resolved and on a timely basis.  
For one of the sample of five blocks a number of fails were identified on testing the emergency lighting at the December 2019 visit. No 
evidence was provided to us to confirm the progress made with resolving the failure issues identified and if a retest was undertaken.  
There is a risk that the emergency lighting may fail in an event of an emergency.  
Electrical:  
For a sample of eight sheltered accommodation properties/blocks, testing identified that in two cases no information was provided to 
confirm that the improvements advised by the operative/contractor had been actioned.   
For a sample of 20 tenanted properties no information was provided to confirm if the actions identified in six cases had been actioned.  
Gas:  
For a sample of 20 properties with gas testing identified that in one case no evidence was provided to confirm the progress made with the 
remedial works highlighted.  
Solid Fuel:  
For a sample of 20 properties with Solid Fuel heating testing identified that in one case the fire at the property was condemned as the liner 
diameter was too small for an open fire. No evidence was provided to confirm the progress made with this and whether remedial work had 
been completed.    
There is a Health and Safety risk where remedial actions/improvements are not actioned. 

Management 
Action 4 

a) A log of remedial actions identified for housing compliance 
safety checks/servicing on gas, solid fuel, oil fired, electrical and 
fire safety will be maintained documenting the remedial actions, 
the target date for resolving the actions and the date the actions 
were resolved.  

b) This log will be subject to regular monitoring to ensure that the 
remedial actions are resolved and on a timely basis.  

Responsible Owner: 
Interim Assistant Director of Housing 

Date: 
31 December 
2020 

Priority: 
High 

 

43



 

10 
 

 

Objective: A compliance audit to confirm policies and procedures are being consistently, effectively and efficiently applied: ensuring that all 
statutory responsibilities are met. 

Control 
 

Where required certificates or similar are held centrally for the gas (including solid fuel and oil fuelled), 
asbestos, legionella, electrical testing and fire safety checks completed for every property which include the 
date inspected, outcome and actions due. 

Assessment: 

Design 
Compliance 

 

 
× 

Findings / 
Implications 

Sample testing of gas (20), oil fuelled (2), solid fuel (20), electrical safety (tenanted 20 and 5 blocks), fire safety (5 blocks) and legionella 
records (5 blocks) identified that currently the certificates/servicing records for gas (including solid fuel and oil fuelled), legionella, electrical 
testing and fire safety checks are not maintained in a central place resulting in the document not being readily available to staff. For 
example, currently the electrical certificates may be retained by the Repairs Team or by the Improvement Team within their project files. 
For the electrical testing, of the sample of 20:  
- Certificates for electrical testing was provided for two of the sample.  
- For six of the sample the certificates were not provided.  
- For the remaining 12 the certificates provided were for electrical works undertaken at the property instead of the electrical testing 
certificates.   
There is a risk that the Council may be unable to evidence that the housing compliance safety checks had been carried out and also the 
information is not readily available to the staff. 

Management 
Action 5 

Certificates/servicing records for gas (including solid fuel and oil 
fuelled), legionella, electrical testing and fire safety will be 
maintained on a central location on the server and will be made 
available to all the appropriate staff.   

Responsible Owner: 
Repairs Manager and Housing Head of 
Technical Services 

Date: 
31 December 
2020 

Priority: 
High 

 

Objective: A compliance audit to confirm policies and procedures are being consistently, effectively and efficiently applied: ensuring that all 
statutory responsibilities are met. 

Control 
 

Risk assessments (fire and asbestos) are carried out, are maintained up to date and are made available to 
all interested parties.  

 

Assessment: 

Design 
Compliance 

 

 
× 

  

44



 

11 
 

 

Findings / 
Implications 

An external contractor undertook the fire risk assessment for the Council in 2017.  

For a sample of five fire risk assessments, testing confirmed that the validity of the risk assessment was stated on the document as one 
year from the date of the risk assessment, for example 14 February 2017 to 14 February 2018.  

The Council’s fire safety procedure states the Council will “ensure that fire risk assessments are reviewed annually and that new baseline 
assessments are provided within agreed interval periods”. 

Subsequent to the audit, two examples of the annual fire risk assessments were provided however it was noted that were dated May and 
June 2019.  

The Improvements Manager advised that they are planning to carry out new fire risk assessments in the new year therefore no reviews 
were required this year. This is not consistent with the Council’s fire safety procedures which states the Council will “ensure that fire risk 
assessments are reviewed annually”.   

There may also be an increased risk of fires occurring where risk assessments are not reviewed annually as required. 

Our audit report on Fire Safety dated 11 February 2019 included findings regarding fire risk assessments and stated in the report that:  

“A full survey and risk assessment of the fire integrity of sheltered accommodation and flats is being commissioned to provide reassurance 
that a Stay Put policy is achievable and the most suitable option. As such, the 2018 FRAs have not yet been undertaken.   

Until the intrusive survey has been completed and the results assessed there is a risk that the existing Stay Put policy is not the most 
suitable course of action for residents to take at properties where it is currently implemented. This could lead to residents sustaining 
injuries if they follow a policy which may not be the most suitable for their property.” 

The management action agreed at the time was:  

“The Council is already working to identify a contractor to undertake the intrusive property surveys. A suitable contractor will be sourced as 
soon as possible to enable the surveys to commence. The Stay Put policy will be amended for each property based on the findings of the 
survey.”  

During this audit it was confirmed that no progress has been made with this. There is no current contract/arrangements in place for fire 
risk assessments.  

There is a risk of non-compliance to fire safety where the Council does not have a qualified member of staff, or a fire safety contractor is 
not engaged, to provide advice and guidance on fire safety and to undertake the fire risk assessments. 

  

45



 

12 
 

 

Management 
Action 6 

a) The Council will implement a contract for fire safety. 

b) A full survey and risk assessment of the fire integrity of 
sheltered accommodation and flats will be arranged.  

c) Going forward the fire risk assessments will be subject to 
annual review.   

Responsible Owner: 
a) Repairs Manager and Housing Head 
of Technical Services 
b) Repairs Manager and Housing Head 
of Technical Services 
c) Housing Head of Technical Services 

Date: 
a) 31 January 
2021 
b) 31 October 
2020 
c) 31 
December 
2020 

Priority: 
High 

 

Objective: A compliance audit to confirm policies and procedures are being consistently, effectively and efficiently applied: ensuring that all 
statutory responsibilities are met. 

Control 
 

Missing Control  

Senior Management and the Council are regularly and accurately briefed on the Council’s compliance with 
health and safety regulation. 

Assessment: 

Design 
Compliance 

 

× 
- 

Findings / 
Implications 

Performance on Housing Compliance - gas, electrical, legionella, asbestos and fire safety are reviewed and monitored by management.  

It was also noted that Senior Management and the Council are not provided with regular reports on the performance of housing 
compliance safety checks. 

There is a risk that management, Senior Management and Council are not informed on the Council’s performance in relation to housing 
compliance in respect of gas, electrical, legionella, asbestos and fire safety checks. 

Management 
Action 7 

a) A suite of performance information for housing compliance - 
gas, electrical, legionella, asbestos and fire safety will be agreed 
by Council. 
b) Performance management reports will be produced and 
reviewed each month by the Repairs Manager, Improvements 
Manager and the Assistant Director Housing for gas, electrical, 
fire safety, legionella and asbestos    
c) As a minimum the Council will be provided with performance 
and KPI data on housing compliance: gas, electrical, fire safety, 
legionella and asbestos every quarter.   

Responsible Owner: 
a) Improvements Manager, Repairs 
Manager and Housing Head of 
Technical Services 
b) Housing Head of Technical Services 
c) Housing Head of Technical Services 

Date: 
31 December 
2020 

Priority: 
High 

 

46



 

13 
 

 

Objective: A compliance audit to confirm policies and procedures are being consistently, effectively and efficiently applied: ensuring that all 
statutory responsibilities are met. 

Control 
 

There is an Asset Management Strategy in place outlining the requirements and expectations of the Council. 

 

Assessment: 

Design 
Compliance 

 

 
× 

Findings / 
Implications 

A Housing Asset Management Strategy 2013 -2018 is still currently in place.  

A review of the Strategy established that the document sets out the requirements for gas safety checks (including solid fuel and oil 
fuelled), asbestos, legionella, electrical testing and fire safety.   

The Strategy covers the period 2013 to 2018 and states that “the Housing Asset Management Strategy will need to be formally reviewed 
on an annual basis in consultation with tenants and leaseholders”. It could not be confirmed that the strategy was subject to this annual 
review.  

There is a risk that up to date guidance is not in place for the management of the Council’s housing assets. 

Management 
Action 8 

a) An up to date Housing Asset Management Strategy will be 
Implemented. 

b) The frequency of the review of the Housing Asset Management 
Strategy will be agreed and reviewed accordingly including the 
addition of version control.  

c) Once a full review of the Asset Management Strategy has been 
completed appropriate consultation with tenants and leaseholders 
will be undertaken. 

d) The Housing Asset Management Strategy will be disseminated 
to all the relevant staff. 

Responsible Owner: 
Housing Head of Technical Services 

Date: 
31 December 
2020 

Priority: 
Medium 

 

Objective: A compliance audit to confirm policies and procedures are being consistently, effectively and efficiently 
applied: ensuring that all statutory responsibilities are met.  

Control 
 

Procedural guidance is in place for:  

• Gas Safety checks (including solid fuel and oil-fired installations); 

• Fire Risk Assessments; 

Assessment: 

Design 
Compliance 

 

 
× 

47



 

14 
 

 

• Electrical Testing; 

• Legionella; and 

• Asbestos. 

The procedures are available to all staff and tenants where applicable. 

Findings / 
Implications 

Electrical safety document is in place. A review of the document identified that guidance on maintaining electrical systems for tenanted 
and sheltered properties is not included.  

Fire safety procedures are not in place.  

It was also noted that the following policies/procedures are out of date:   

- Fire Safety Arrangements January 2019. 

- Asbestos Management Policy 2015.  

- Asbestos Removal Procedures to Contractor - Voids. 

- Property Services Asbestos Management Strategy February 2014.   

- Procedures to ensure servicing of gas burning appliances within Council owned housing stock August 2017.  

- Shower Head Procedure – Voids December 2015. 

There is a risk that up to guidance is not in place for staff and tenants. 

Management 
Action 9 

a) Electrical safety procedures will be implemented  for tenanted 
and sheltered housing properties.  
b) Fire safety procedures will be implemented for housing 
properties.  
c) The following policies/procedures will be reviewed and updated 
as required:  
- Asbestos Management Policy. 
- Asbestos Removal Procedures to Contractor - Voids. 
- Property Services Asbestos Management Strategy. 
- Procedures to ensure servicing of gas burning appliances within 
Council owned housing stock. 
- Fire Safety. 
- Shower Head Procedure – Voids. 

Responsible Owner: 
Housing Head of Technical Services 

Date: 
a) 31 
December 
2020 
b) 31 
December 
2020 
c) 30 April 
2021 
d) 31 
December 
2020 

Priority: 
Medium 

48



 

15 
 

 

d) The policies and procedures will be subject to review every 
three years or earlier in the event of any changes occurring and 
include version control.  

e) 31 
December 
2020 

 

Objective: A compliance audit to confirm policies and procedures are being consistently, effectively and efficiently applied: ensuring that all 
statutory responsibilities are met. 

Control 
 

Staff are provided with appropriate job related and health and safety training to ensure they follow safe 
working practices. 

 

Assessment: 

Design 
Compliance 

 

 
× 

Findings / 
Implications 

Fire Safety: 
Corporate Health and Safety maintain a record of all online fire awareness training undertaken by office-based staff. A review of the 
training records established that: 
- In 18 cases the training had been undertaken.  
- Three cases where the training was commenced in July 2019, February 2020 and July 2020 was not  completed.  
Improvements Team:  
A Training Matrix – Improvements is in place. A review of the matrix established that it was last updated on 10 October 2018. It was also 
noted that records do not include all the members of staff in the Improvements Team.  
After the audit a training matrix updated on 3 August 2020 was provided to us.   
There is a risk that staff training may be overlooked where the training matrix is not maintained up to date. 

Management 
Action 10 

a) The three members of staff will be reminded to complete their 
online fire awareness training.  

b) The Improvements Team training matrix will be maintained up 
to date  

c) A monitoring system will be put into place for Managers to 
ensure all relevant health and safety training and job-related 
training has been undertaken and the matrix is maintained up to 
date. 

Responsible Owner: 
a) Improvements Manager and Repairs 
Manager 
b) Improvements Manager 
c) Improvements Manager and Repairs 
Manager 

Date: 
a) 30 
September 
2020 
b) 30 
September 
2020 
c) 31 October 
2020 

Priority: 
Medium 

 

49



 

16 
 

 

Objective: A compliance audit to confirm policies and procedures are being consistently, effectively and efficiently applied: ensuring that all 
statutory responsibilities are met. 

Control 
 

Checks and/or works are carried out in the line with the timescales agreed by the Council and 
documents/records to evidence these checks are updated and retained. 

Assessment: 

Design 
Compliance 

 

 
× 

Findings / 
Implications 

Fire Safety:   
Fire alarm servicing is undertaken every six months. For two of the five blocks, sample testing confirmed that the fire alarms were serviced 
every three months and the remaining three were serviced every six months.     
For the same sample of five blocks testing confirmed that for eight weeks between 9 June and 29 July 2020 the fire alarm testing had 
been undertaken; however, in nine cases the test was carried out between nine and 14 days after the last test.  
For the fire alarm servicing, emergency lighting testing and extinguisher servicing it was noted that the spreadsheet does not always 
include the previous visit and as a result we could not confirm if the checks were carried out in line with the agreed timescales.  
Electrical Safety: 
We were unable to test if the electrical safety checks were being undertaken as required as the Council does not have an electrical safety 
testing programme in place.   
Where the housing compliance safety checks are not undertaken in line with the agreed timescales there a risk that the Council is in 
breach of health and safety legislation. 

Management 
Action 11 

All relevant staff and contractors will be reminded to ensure that 
the housing compliance safety checks for gas, oil fuel, solid fuel, 
legionella, fire safety and electrical is undertaken in accordance to 
the timescales set by the Council. 

Responsible Owner: 
Housing Head of Technical Services 

Date: 
31 October 
2020 

Priority: 
Medium 

 

Objective: A compliance audit to confirm policies and procedures are being consistently, effectively and efficiently applied: ensuring that all 
statutory responsibilities are met. 

Control 
 

Escalation procedures are in place and are complied with where checks are not completed for example 
inability to access properties.  

 

Assessment: 

Design 
Compliance 

 

 
× 

  

50



 

17 
 

 

Findings / 
Implications 

Solid Fuel: 

For a sample of 20 properties where solid fuel is in use testing identified that: in one case access to the property has not been gained 
since 2018 and two cases access to the properties was not gained in 2019. The Improvements Manager advised that as there is no 
statutory duty to carry out the annual service, access to the property is not chased and therefore the next service is then scheduled for in a 
year’s time. 

It is the Council’s policy that the solid fuel properties are visited for chimney sweeping on an annual basis. 

There is a risk to the Council of non-compliance to the policy and also a reputation/legal risk in event of any solid fuel related incident at 
the property.  

Oil Fired:  

The Council has two properties which are oil fired and testing is undertaken annually. Testing confirmed that these two properties were 
last serviced in April and May 2020. Review of the certificates issued by the contractor identified that comments made on the certificate – 
“too close to fence” and “tank too close to fence and house”.  

It could not be established if any review/action was undertaken.  

There is a reputation/legal risk to the Council in event of any oil fuel related incident at the property.  

Management 
Action 12 

a) The Council will review and agree the escalation procedures 
based on the risk to the Council and statutory/regulatory 
requirements.  

b) The escalation procedures will then be applied according to the 
agreed escalation procedures.  

c) An audit trial of the escalation will be maintained. 

Responsible Owner: 
Housing Head of Technical Services 

Date: 
a) 31 October 
2020 
b) 30 
November 
2020 
c) 30 
November 
2020 

Priority: 
Medium 

 

Objective: A compliance audit to confirm policies and procedures are being consistently, effectively and efficiently applied: ensuring that all 
statutory responsibilities are met. 

Control 
 

Where appropriate, internal quality assurance audits are completed to assure the works of third parties is to 
the required standard. 

Assessment: 

Design 
Compliance 

 

 
× 

51



 

18 
 

 

Findings / 
Implications 

Improvements and Repairs:  

Internal quality assurance audits are not undertaken to assure the works of third parties. 

For Voids – void inspections are undertaken to ensure that the works carried out by the in-house operatives have been undertaken to the 
void specification.   

For electrical testing, the work is checked by the supervisor. For a sample of 14 electrical testing works, in five cases testing identified that 
the work was not checked and signed off by a supervisor.  

There is a risk that the works may not be carried out to the quality required by the Council or its contractors. 

Management 
Action 13 

a) The Council will agree the housing compliance areas where 
internal quality assurance checks will be undertaken.  

b) The checks will then be undertaken accordingly. 

c) Monitoring will be undertaken to ensure that the required 
internal quality assurance audits/checks are being undertaken. 

Responsible Owner: 
Repairs Manager and Housing Head of 
Technical Services 

Date: 
31 December 
2020 

Priority: 
Medium 

 

Objective: A compliance audit to confirm policies and procedures are being consistently, effectively and efficiently applied: ensuring that all 
statutory responsibilities are met. 

Control 
 

The Asbestos Register is maintained up to date on the stock condition database.  

 

Assessment: 

Design 
Compliance 

 

 
× 

Findings / 
Implications 

A review of the asbestos register identified that:  

- A total of 1,675 records were identified on the register where the records are documented as active however no further details are 
recorded for the properties - the number of places of asbestos identified, presumed, strongly presumed, the material risk, the priority rating 
and if its notifiable to the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) fields are blank. 

- There is a risk that the asbestos register is not up to date and may lead to incorrect information being provided to contractors and DLO 
staff.   

Management 
Action 14 

The 1,675 records on the asbestos register will be investigated. Responsible Owner: 
Improvements Manager and Housing 
Head of Technical Services 

Date: 
31 December 
2020 

Priority: 
Medium 

 

52



 

19 
 

 

Objective: A compliance audit to confirm policies and procedures are being consistently, effectively and efficiently applied: ensuring that all 
statutory responsibilities are met. 

Control 
 

Contractors and repairs operatives are provided with access to the Asbestos Register with full details of any 
asbestos containing materials within a property before they commence any work on a property. 

Assessment: 

Design 
Compliance 

 

 
× 

Findings / 
Implications 

On review of the process in updating the asbestos register with survey results, it was identified that:  
- On completion of the asbestos survey a PDF of the survey is emailed to the Council’s dedicated asbestos email ID.  
- Every quarter an excel spreadsheet containing the survey results for the previous three months is provided to the Council by the 
asbestos contractors. Through an interface this information is uploaded by IT to the asbestos register held on the stock condition 
database.  
Although the Council receives the PDF of the survey results at the time this is not available on the asbestos register until three months 
later and there is a risk that the most up to date asbestos information may not be available/readily available to the Council’s operatives/ 
contractors.  
For a sample of 20 repairs jobs testing confirmed that in all cases the operative/contractor was notified of asbestos at the property.  
The operatives are provided with a link to the Council’s asbestos folder on the server and to the asbestos register held on the stock 
condition database. Contractors are provided with a link to the asbestos register on the stock condition database.    
It was also noted that the Council does not have a flag system in place for asbestos on the housing system and as a result when a repair 
call is received the member of staff is required to undertake checks on the asbestos register/asbestos folder/check with the asbestos 
administrator for all repairs where there is potentially asbestos present for example ceiling, floor tiles, mould in property, roof leaks etc.   
There is a risk that these checks may not be undertaken, and this may result in additional costs to the Council with repeat visits/health 
risks to the operatives.    

Management 
Action 15 

a) The Council will engage/discuss with the asbestos contractor 
with a view of obtaining the asbestos information for uploading to 
the stock condition database on a more frequent basis.   

b) The Council will investigate introducing a flag for asbestos on 
the housing/repairs system 

Responsible Owner: 
Improvements Manager and Housing 
Head of Technical Services 

Date: 
31 December 
2020 

Priority: 
Medium 

 

  

53



 

20 
 

 

Objective: A compliance audit to confirm policies and procedures are being consistently, effectively and efficiently applied: ensuring that all 
statutory responsibilities are met. 

Control 
 

Tenants are made aware of safety precautions that they can take to ensure that hazards within their homes 
are minimised. These include (but are not limited to) advice on managing the presence of asbestos, flushing 
water systems, where appropriate, ensuring adequate ventilation and a requirement to request permission to 
carry out any modification to any part of the home. 

Assessment: 

Design 
Compliance 

 

 
× 

Findings / 
Implications 

There is a page on the Council’s web site “Housing Stock - our Fire Safety position” and states:  “Following the tragic events at Grenfell 
Tower in June 2017 the Council would like to reassure all residents about its approach to fire safety, smoke detection and work being 
carried out on their properties” and includes “What you can do stay safe?” 
It was however noted that the Council’s web site does not provide any information on asbestos, legionella and preventing mould and 
condensation in the home. 
There is a risk that tenants are not being provided information on the Council’s website on the safety precautions that they can take to 
ensure that hazards within their homes are minimised. 

Management 
Action 16 

The Council’s web page to include information safety in the home 
regarding legionnaires disease (this only applies to homes with 
communal water tank facilities and not domestic homes), 
preventing mould, damp and condensation, annual gas/other fuel 
servicing and asbestos. 

Responsible Owner: 
Housing Head of Technical Services 

Date: 
30 November 
2020 

Priority: 
Low 

 

54



 

21 
 

 

Categorisation of internal audit findings 

Priority Definition 

Low  There is scope for enhancing control or improving efficiency and quality. 

Medium Timely management attention is necessary. This is an internal control risk management issue that could lead to: Financial losses which 
could affect the effective function of a department, loss of controls or process being audited or possible reputational damage, negative 
publicity in local or regional media. 

High Immediate management attention is necessary. This is a serious internal control or risk management issue that may lead to: Substantial 
losses, violation of corporate strategies, policies or values, reputational damage, negative publicity in national or international media or 
adverse regulatory impact, such as loss of operating licences or material fines. 

The following table highlights the number and categories of management actions made as a result of this audit. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

* Shows the number of controls not adequately designed or not complied with. The number in brackets represents the total number of controls reviewed in this area. 

 

 

APPENDIX A: CATEGORISATION OF FINDINGS 

Objective Control 
design not 
effective*

Non-
Compliance 

with controls*

Agreed management actions
Low Medium High 

A compliance audit to confirm policies and procedures 
are being consistently, effectively and efficiently applied: 
ensuring that all statutory responsibilities are met. 

2 (24) 14 (24) 1 8 7 

Total  
 

1 8 7 

55



 

22 
 

 

APPENDIX B: SCOPE 

The scope below is a copy of the original document issued. 

Scope of the review 
The scope was planned to provide assurance on the controls and mitigations in place relating to the following objective: 

Objective of the risk under review 

A compliance audit to confirm policies and procedures are being consistently, effectively and efficiently applied: 
ensuring that all statutory responsibilities are met. 

When planning the audit, the following areas for consideration and limitations were agreed: 

The Council has a duty to ensure that all properties, including communal areas within properties, under its control meet the relevant health and safety 
regulations in respect to each of the following key areas:  

• Gas Safety checks (including solid fuel and oil-fired installations); 

• Fire Risk Assessments; 

• Electrical Testing; 

• Legionella; and 

• Asbestos.  

We will ensure, for each of the areas listed above, that: 

• There are clear policies and procedures in place regarding the requirements and expectations of the Council; 

• How the Council is kept informed of regulatory updates and ensures that Policies and Procedures remain up to date e.g. changes to fire safety 
requirements resulting from the Grenfell enquiry; 

• Policies and procedures are available to all staff and tenants where applicable; 

• The Council has agreed the frequency of all safety checks and when these will commence; 

56



 

23 
 

 

• Staff receive appropriate training to ensure they follow safe working practices and are provided with the necessary PPE; 

• Contractual agreements are in place with suppliers to complete the checks in a timely manner; 

• Once checks have been completed, reports/certificates are provided to the Council and where applicable, to the tenant, in a timely manner; 

• Appropriate records are held regarding the status of each property in the housing stock to ensure all checks required have been identified. This includes 
the verification for new properties through development or transfers in, disposals and identification of major works undertaken which could impact on the 
checks required; 

• Risk assessments (fire and asbestos) are carried out, are maintained up to date and are made available to all interested parties. Improvement actions 
identified during the risk assessment process are implemented promptly;  

• Where they are not held on the same system, the housing management system is reconciled to the health and safety records, to ensure that every 
property is accounted for; 

• The last safety check and next safety check date are clearly identified within the property system or similar for each property and can be used to identify 
those properties requiring checks; 

• Processes are in place to identify all properties due for safety checks and works are adequately arranged through an appropriately qualified and 
experienced contractor or similar; 

• Escalation procedures are in place and are complied with where checks are not completed for example due to a tenant refusing entry; 

• Where required certificates or similar are held for the safety checks completed for every property which include the date inspected, outcome and actions 
due; 

• Actions identified from safety inspections are adequately and accurately recorded, and followed up to ensure completion;  

• Contractors, including the Council’s repairs operatives are provided with access to the Asbestos Register with full details of any asbestos containing 
materials within a property, before they commence any work on a property; 

• Tenants are made aware of safety precautions that they can take to ensure that hazards within their homes are minimised. These include (but are not 
limited to) advice on managing the presence of asbestos, flushing water systems, ensuring adequate ventilation and a requirement to request permission 
to carry out any modification to any part of the home; 

• Checks and/or works are carried out in the line with agreed timescales e.g. gas: annual; electricity: five yearly; asbestos: five yearly; fire risk assessments: 
two yearly; fire alarm tests: weekly; legionella: monthly and documents/records to evidence these checks are updated and retained; 

• Where appropriate, internal quality assurance audits are completed to assure the works of third parties;  

• Breaches of Health and Safety legislation and near misses are identified and are report through the RIDDOR process; and compliance; and  

• Management are regularly and accurately briefed on the Council’s with health and safety regulation. 

 

57



 

24 
 

 

The following limitations apply to the scope of our work: 

• The scope of the work is limited to those areas examined and reported upon in the areas for consideration in the context of the objectives set out for this 
review;     

• Conclusions are based on our assessments made through discussions with management, assessment of the current framework of controls and review of 
relevant documentation made available; 

• We will not provide an opinion on whether the Council complies with Health and Safety legislation;   

• Our audit does not provide any assurance with regards to compliance with Health and Safety legislation and other HSE requirements, and does not 
replicate the advice provided by Health and Safety Consultants;   

• This audit does not replace the requirement for any of the external / independent inspections required by law;  

• We will not comment on whether the procedures incorporate the most up to date legislation, only that processes exist to identify and incorporate any 
changes;  

• We will not comment on the appropriateness of actions undertaken regarding non-compliance, only that they were identified and reported;    

• We will not confirm that all regulatory requirements of the Council have been identified for all properties; 

• We will not provide assurance that property records are complete or re-perform any reconciliations of the records held; 

• We will not comment on the completeness of the risk assessments / safety checks or actions identified as part of this; 

• We will not confirm that all action has been taken to escalate non-completion of safety checks; 

• We will not comment on the skills and qualifications of the inspectors; 

• We will not comment on the sufficiency of actions taken to address the findings of checks; 

• We will not confirm that all records are complete and all required safety checks / risk assessments have been identified and completed; 

• All testing will be compliance based sample testing only;   

• We will not verify the accuracy of the Health and Safety Reporting; and    

• Our work will not provide any guarantee against material errors, loss or fraud or provide an absolute assurance that material error, loss or fraud does not 
exist. 

 

 

 

 

58



 

25 
 

 

Debrief held 7 September 2020 Internal audit Contacts Rob Barnett, Head of Internal Audit 
Rob.Barnett@rsmuk.com / Tel: 07791 237658  

Amjad Ali, Senior Manager 
Amjad.Ali@rsmuk.com / Tel: 07800 617139 

Iain Daire, Assistant Manager  
Iain.Daire@rsmuk.com / Tel: 07528 970048 

Draft report issued 14 September 2020
Responses received 
Revised draft report 
issued 

13 October 2020 
19 October 2020 
 

Final report issued 20 October 2020 Client sponsor Christ Stratford Interim Assistant Director - Housing 

Distribution Chris Stratford, Interim Assistant Director - Housing 

Alan Smith, Repairs Manager 

Stuart Sheardown, Improvements Manager  

Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance   

Tracey Elliott, Governance and Risk Officer   

59



 

rsmuk.com 

The matters raised in this report are only those which came to our attention during the course of our review and are not necessarily a comprehensive statement of all the 
weaknesses that exist or all improvements that might be made. Actions for improvements should be assessed by you for their full impact. This report, or our work, should 
not be taken as a substitute for management’s responsibilities for the application of sound commercial practices. We emphasise that the responsibility for a sound system 
of internal controls rests with management and our work should not be relied upon to identify all strengths and weaknesses that may exist. Neither should our work be 
relied upon to identify all circumstances of fraud and irregularity should there be any. 

Our report is prepared solely for the confidential use of South Kesteven District Council, and solely for the purposes set out herein. This report should not therefore be 
regarded as suitable to be used or relied on by any other party wishing to acquire any rights from RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP for any purpose or in any context. 
Any third party which obtains access to this report or a copy and chooses to rely on it (or any part of it) will do so at its own risk. To the fullest extent permitted by law, 
RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP will accept no responsibility or liability in respect of this report to any other party and shall not be liable for any loss, damage or 
expense of whatsoever nature which is caused by any person’s reliance on representations in this report. 

This report is released to you on the basis that it shall not be copied, referred to or disclosed, in whole or in part (save as otherwise permitted by agreed written terms), 
without our prior written consent. 

We have no responsibility to update this report for events and circumstances occurring after the date of this report.  

RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales no. OC389499 at 6th floor, 25 Farringdon Street, London EC4A 4AB. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

60



Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 2020/21 
Work Programme 

 

Current Issues/Status  Activities and Timetable  
Outcome sought / Key lines 
of enquiry 

Verbal Update from 
Cabinet Members 

Verbal updates throughout Covid-19 pandemic, on the current 
situation during the pandemic. 
Updates on: 

 Update on Covid-19 

 (further items TBC) 

7 January 
2021, 2:00pm 
(location TBC) 

Committee to feedback and 
comment on verbal updates, 
and suggest/request areas for 
further scrutiny at future 
meetings 

Use of Community 
Infrastructure Levy 

To assess the feasibility of using the Community Infrastructure Levy 
Assess feasibility and make 
recommendations either way 
to Cabinet 

Riverside Flats 
To consider further findings into issues around repairs to the 
heating system at Riverside Flats in Grantham 

To consider the report and 
make any recommendations 
to Cabinet, and note actions 
that will take place going 
forward 

External Planning Review To consider action points arising from an external planning review 

 

To feedback to Officers and 
Cabinet as appropriate on 
suggested action points 

 

Verbal Update from 
Cabinet Members 

Verbal updates throughout Covid-19 pandemic, on the current 
situation during the pandemic. 
Updates on: 

 Update on Covid-19 
(further items TBC) 

11 March 
2021, 2:00pm 
(location TBC) 

Committee to feedback and 
comment on verbal updates, 
and suggest/request areas for 
further scrutiny at future 
meetings 

Safeguarding Review 
An overview of projects to improve Safeguarding Processes, and 
scrutiny of the work taking place 

Suggestions for improvement 
of safeguarding processes 

Further items TBC   

Verbal Update from 
Cabinet Members 

Verbal updates throughout Covid-19 pandemic, on the current 
situation during the pandemic. 
Updates on: 

 Update on Covid-19 
(further items TBC) 

29 April 2021, 
2:00pm 
(location TBC) 

Committee to feedback and 
comment on verbal updates, 
and suggest/request areas for 
further scrutiny at future 
meetings 

61

A
genda Item

 10



Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 2020/21 
Work Programme 

 

Current Issues/Status  Activities and Timetable  
Outcome sought / Key lines 
of enquiry 

Further items TBC   

Further items TBC   

  

62



Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 2020/21 
Work Programme 

 

Unscheduled items 

Crime and Disorder – 
Neighborhood Policing / 
ASB 

Inspector Gary Stewart to be invited to attend  TBC Crime and Disorder Scrutiny 

 

REMIT 
The remit of the Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be to work alongside Cabinet Members to assist with the development of policy 
and to scrutinise decisions in respect of, but not limited to: 
 

 Anti-social Behaviour 

 Assisted Garden Maintenance Scheme 

 Benefit Claims 

 Community Cohesion 

 Community Funding & Volunteering 

 Community Right to Bid 

 Community Safety and Local Policing 

 Customer Services 

 DASH Landlord Accreditation Scheme 

 Disabled Facilities Grant 

 Empty Homes Assistance 

 Empty Homes Discount 

 Equalities and Diversity 

 Essential Home Repair Assistance 

 Gravitas Housing 

 Health 

 Homelessness 

 Housing Management, Improvement and 

Repairs 

 Housing Partnership 

 HR and Organisational Development 

 Landlords Forum 

 Parish and Town Council Liaison 

 Procurement 

 Safeguarding 

 Well-being 

Membership 7 

63



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
CABINET FORWARD PLAN 

 Notice of decisions to be made by Cabinet  
1 December 2020 to 30 November 2021 

 
 
At its meetings, the Cabinet may make Key Decisions and Non-Key Decisions. It may also make recommendations to Council on 
matters relating to the Council’s budget or its policy framework. 
 
A Key Decision is a Cabinet decision that is likely: 
 

1. To result in the District Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard 
to the District Council’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates (for these purposes, South Kesteven 
District Council has agreed £200,000 as the threshold at which a decision will be considered significant); or 

2. To be significant in terms of its effects on communities that live or work in an area comprising two or more wards. 
 
A Non-Key Decision is one that is not a Key Decision. 
 
The Forward Plan 
 
The Cabinet Forward Plan is a rolling, 12-month plan that will be updated on a regular basis. It includes those matters that are 
scheduled to be considered by Cabinet during the plan period. This plan also includes details of those decisions that are due to be 
made by the full Council. 
 
Overview and Scrutiny 
 
The Forward Plan will be circulated to all Overview and Scrutiny Committees and be considered at each meeting as Members set 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee work programmes. Scrutiny members will be able to pick from the Forward Plan, those items 
relevant to their remit that they wish to scrutinise. 

65



 
Notice of future Cabinet decisions and recommendations to Council  
 

Summary Date Action Contact 

Housing Allocation Policy 2021 to include Choice Based Lettings - Key Decision 

To consider the policy and 
recommendations from the Rural and 
Communities OSC 
 

1 Dec 2020 
 

To adopt a refreshed 
Housing Allocation Policy 
incorporating a Choice based 
Lettings Scheme 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Interim Assistant Director of Housing 
Tel: Tel: 01476 40 60 80 
E-mail: chris.stratford@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Housing Asset Management Strategy 2021-2026 - Key Decision 

To consider the strategy 
 

1 Dec 2020 
 

To adopt a Housing Asset 
management Strategy 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Interim Assistant Director of Housing 
Tel: Tel: 01476 40 60 80 
E-mail: chris.stratford@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Leisure Centre Proposals - Key Decision 

Consider leisure improvement proposals 
and business cases 
 

1 Dec 2020 
 

To approve proposals 
 

Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Growth 
and Leisure (Councillor Barry Dobson) 
 
Head of Leisure 
Tel: 01476 40 62 39 
E-mail: Karen.Whitfield@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

66



Summary Date Action Contact 

Council Tax Base 2021/22 - Budget 

To determine the Council Tax base to form 
the basis of the 2021/22 budget proposals 
to be recommended to Council 
 

1 Dec 2020 
 

To agree the Council Tax 
base 2021/22 which will form 
the basis of the budget 
proposals for the year 
 

Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources 
(Councillor Adam Stokes) 
 
Interim Director of Finance, Section 151 Officer 
Tel: Tel: 01476 40 63 75 
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 

Draft Budget Proposals 2021/22 - Budget 

To consider the draft budget proposals for 
2021/22. 
 

1 Dec 2020 
 

To agree the draft budget 
proposals for 2021/22 for 
consultation 
 

Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources 
(Councillor Adam Stokes) 
 
Interim Director of Finance, Section 151 Officer 
Tel: Tel: 01476 40 63 75 
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Review of the Licensing Act 2003 Policy Statement - Key Decision 

To consider any changes to the Policy 
Statement  
 

1 Dec 2020 
 
Council  
28 Jan 
2021 
 

To recommend any changes 
to Council 
 

Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations 
(Councillor Dr Peter Moseley) 
 
Head of Public Protection 
Tel: Tel: 01476 40 63 19 
E-mail: a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Food Waste Collection - Key Decision 

To provide an update on food waste 
collection 
 

1 Dec 2020 
 

To make decisions around 
food waste collection within 
South Kesteven and any 
consequential budget 
changes 
 

Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations 
(Councillor Dr Peter Moseley) 
 
Assistant Director, Commercial and Operations 
Tel: 01476 40 62 01 
E-mail: i.yates@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

67



Summary Date Action Contact 

Proposed Development brief for Land at Stamford North - Key Decision 

To consider the proposed development 
brief for land at Stamford North prior to 
consultation 
 

1 Dec 2020 
 

To approve the draft 
Supplementary Planning 
Document in respect of land 
at Stamford North for 
consultation 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Head of Planning Policy 
Tel: Tel: 01476 40 64 38 
E-mail: r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

JC Decaux Bus Stops - Key Decision 

JC Decaux have given notice to SKDC 
about their intention to withdraw their 
existing bus stops, largely in Grantham, and 
SKDC has some options about whether or 
not it wishes to adopt these bus stops 
 

1 Dec 2020 
 

To make a decision around 
the adoption or otherwise of 
the existing JC Decaux bus 
stops and consequential 
budget changes 
 

Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations 
(Councillor Dr Peter Moseley) 
 
Corporate Operations Lead 
Tel: Tel: 01476 40 64 10 
E-mail: p.stokes@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Procurement of New Build Works - Key Decision 

To seek approval for the award of a JCT 
Design and Build Contract for the 
construction of 12 Council properties to D 
Brown Building Contractors Limited 
 

1 Dec 2020 
 

To approve the awarding of a 
contract to  carry out the 
development of 12 Council 
properties, using the Blue 
Skies Framework 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Development Manager Housing 
Tel: 01476 40 6259 
E-mail: g.harte@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Strategic Regeneration Acquisitions - Key Decision 

To make strategic regeneration acquisitions 
 
Information relating to this decision is 
exempt under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A 
of the Local Government Act 1972 as 
amended because it contains information 
which relate to the financial or business 
affairs of an individual or an organisation 

Dec 2020 
 

 
 

The Leader and Cabinet Member for Corporate 
Services and Transformation (Councillor Kelham 
Cooke) 
 
Tel: 01476 40 60 80 
E-mail: karen.bradford@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

68



Summary Date Action Contact 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policy - Key Decision 

To consider any proposed changes 
following consultation 
 

12 Jan 
2021 
 

To approve the policy 
 

Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations 
(Councillor Dr Peter Moseley) 
 
Head of Public Protection 
Tel: Tel: 01476 40 63 19 
E-mail: a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Rectory Farm - Supplementary Planning Document - Key Decision 

To consider the Rectory Farm 
Supplementary Planning Document 
following consultation on a draft document 
 

12 Jan 
2021 
 
Council 
28 Jan 
2021 
 

To approve a Supplementary 
Planning Document in 
respect to Rectory Farm 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Special Projects Manager 
Tel: 01476 40 61 64 
E-mail: p.moore@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Budget Proposals 2021/22 - Budget 

To agree the budget proposals for 2021/22. 
 

12 Jan 
2021 
 
Council 
1 Mar 2021 
 

To recommend the budget 
for 2021/22 to Council 
 

Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources 
(Councillor Adam Stokes) 
 
Interim Director of Finance, Section 151 Officer 
Tel: Tel: 01476 40 63 75 
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

South Kesteven District Council's Carbon Reduction Plan - Key Decision 

To consider the Council’s carbon reduction 
plans 
 

12 Jan 
2021 
 

To make a decision around 
the Council’s carbon 
reduction plans and make 
any consequential budget 
changes 
 

Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations 
(Councillor Dr Peter Moseley) 
 
Strategic Director, Commercial and Operations 
Tel: 01476 40 63 44 
E-mail: gary.smith@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 

69



Summary Date Action Contact 

Pay Policy Statement - Legislative 

To receive recommendations from the 
Employment Committee on the Council’s 
Pay Policy Statement 2021/22 
 

Council  
1 Mar 2021 
 

To adopt the Pay Policy 
 

The Leader and Cabinet Member for Corporate 
Services and Transformation (Councillor Kelham 
Cooke) 
 
Head of Organisational Development and 
Change 
Tel: Tel: 01476 40 61 32 
E-mail: e.pepper@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document - Final - Key Decision 

To consider the Design Guide 
Supplementary Planning Document 
following public consultation 
 

20 May 
2021 
 

To approve the Design Guide 
Supplementary Planning 
Document 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Head of Planning Policy 
Tel: Tel: 01476 40 64 38 
E-mail: r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

70



 

 

 

Rural and Communities Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 

12 November 2020 

Report of: Councillor Robert Reid 

  Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Planning 

           

 

Independent Inquiry 2020 into the Riverside Upgrade 
Project 

 

 

 

Report Author 

Debbie Roberts, Corporate Project Officer 

Tel:  01476 406080 

Email:  Debbie.roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Administrative Administrative Grantham St Wulfram's 

 

Reviewed by: Chris Stratford, Interim Assistant Director Housing 2 November 2020 

Approved by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive  3 November 2020 

Signed off by: Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing 
and Planning 

3 November 2020  

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. That the Committee notes the recommendations contained in the attached 
Independent Consultants Report, and requests that officers be required to update 
this Committee on progress to achieve full implementation of the 
recommendations on a quarterly basis. 

2. The Committee notes that the HSE report dealing with potential breaches relating 
to the management of asbestos during the carrying out of the Riverside hot water 
and heating repairs should be submitted to the Committee once received.  

71

Agenda Item 11

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 Appendix 1 to this paper is the exempt executive summary report of the Independent 

Consultant into the Council’s management of the works contract which was commissioned 

to repair hot water and heating services within the Riverside housing complex. The inquiry 

was conducted by Julie Picken, an independent HR Consultant, who has previously 

completed employment investigations for the Council and had the necessary background 

knowledge and experience. The Consultant will also provide a presentation at the 

Committee meeting of her findings to assist with members appreciation of the report detail. 

1.2 The Council’s Riverside Upgrade project was to rerun all existing heating services from 

the main plant room to each of the 90 properties on the Riverside Scheme by replacing 

the original pipework between the main boiler and each property. Work began on site on 

29 April 2019 and should have been completed by the end of August 2019. The project 

had experienced several delays with residents, many of whom were elderly or vulnerable, 

were still reliant on temporary heating and hot water measures in January 2020. 

1.3 On 31 October 2019 during a site visit the HSE issued a Prohibition Notice enforcing a 

cease and desist notice on the construction/improvement project at Riverside. The 

Prohibition Notice was based on the concern that construction / improvement work was 

being undertaken by contractors without the proper asbestos survey information having 

been provided by the Council as the employer responsible for the correct checks having 

taken place. It came to light from a subsequent disciplinary investigation that the wrong 

asbestos survey information had been provided for the type of work being carried out by 

the contractor at the start of the project in April 2019 and this had not been identified by 

contractors or SKDC employees. As a result, contractors, SKDC employees, residents 

and the general public could have been put at risk of exposure to asbestos. 

1.4 The legislation governing the management of asbestos is set out in Section 2 and 3 of the 

Health and Safety at Work Act 1974, the Control of Asbestos at Work Regulations 2012 

and the Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2015. South Kesteven 

District Council (SKDC) have a Corporate Health and Safety Asbestos Management 

Policy and the Property and Facilities Asbestos Management Procedure which provide 

guidance and set the standard required when managing asbestos. The anticipated final 

HSE report including findings and sanctions is now anticipated in December 2020. The 

Independent Consultants report only touches upon the actions of officers relating to the 

management of the general contract of works, and the objectives are as identified below. 

1.5 Objectives were:  

1.6 a) To investigate the facts and provide a report of the findings and recommendations. 

1.7 b) Based on the evidence gathered, identify appropriate actions for the Council to consider 

adopting when approaching projects of this nature in future. 

1.8 Key Findings were:  

1.9 a) To explore available information relating to the approach taken by SKDC in the 

past to provide hot water and heating services to the residents of Riverside. 

1.9.1 Replacement of parts of the hot water and heating system in 2012 and 2016, given the 

age of the connecting pipework, was perhaps short-sighted. 

1.9.2 Serious issues with hot water and heating began in 2016. 

72



 

 
 

1.9.3 Lack of a central point to record issues and complaints and management oversight. 

1.9.4 Lack of action by the Council to fully investigate and resolve the root cause of the 

concerns until a decision to replace the pipework was made in January 2019. 

1.10 b) To explore the commissioning process used to appoint the Contractor to carry 

out the work on site and whether this followed the agreed SKDC process. 

1.10.1 The Council’s Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules were correctly followed in 

appointing the contractor. 

1.10.2 The Project Officer may not have been suitably qualified in commercial heating to provide 

accurate information to the Framework provider, to enable a suitable contractor to be 

recommended. 

1.10.3 Pre-contract actions were not completed by the contractor or the Council before work 

started. 

1.11 c) To explore the management of the project from when work began on site on 

29 April 2019 until completion. 

1.11.1 The following actions as required by SKDC policies/processes were not completed or 

correctly followed by the Project Officer: Project Check Sheet not completed, FH10 

notification not sent to HSE, no records of contract management meetings or evidence of 

weekly site visits to monitor safe practices, no risk register, the Construction Phase Plan 

not completed by the contractor, yet this was not challenged. 

1.11.2 The Corporate H&S Asbestos Management Policy and Property and Facilities Asbestos 

Management Procedure had not been followed resulting in the Project Officer providing 

the contractor with the wrong asbestos survey information and the HSE issuing a 

prohibition notice.  

1.11.3 Lack of management oversight of the Project Officer’s actions.  

1.12 c) To explore the management of the project from when work began on site on 

29 April 2019 until completion. 

1.12.1 The CPPR process was not followed as no-one was appointed to manage the contract 

and progress works during the Project Officer’s 7 weeks sickness absence. 

1.12.2 The H&S Compliance Officer’s concerns about site management, when the project was 2 

months behind schedule and the Project Officer absent, did not result in any action to 

robustly manage the contract and get the works on track.  

1.12.3 From 1 November 2019 there was a more structured and robust approach to deal with the 

asbestos effectively and manage the contract. 

1.13 d) To explore the impact of the project on Riverside residents.  

1.13.1 Considerable hardship endured due to the project not completing until February 2020, 

instead of the end of August 2019.  

1.13.2 Temporary measures put in place were insufficient to provide enough hot water and 

heating during the cold winter months. 

1.13.3 Most residents are elderly and retired, some with long term health issues, so the impact 

was significant.  

1.13.4 Residents felt let down, not cared about and lied to.  

73



 

 
 

1.13.5 A regular and an approachable presence on site after 1 November 2019 were welcomed. 

1.14 Recommendations from the Independent Inquiry  

1.14.1 Single point for incoming calls from residents concerning hot water and heating issues.  

1.14.2 Manage the collated data to facilitate analysis and regular formal review by senior 

managers. 

1.14.3 Complete review into Council properties with similar commercial type hot water and 

heating systems. 

1.14.4 Ensure Project Officers appointed to procure works and manage contracts are suitably 

qualified. 

1.14.5 Project Officers to work more collaboratively from the outset and utilise internal expertise 

to identify risks and mitigating actions e.g. H&S, Asbestos, Equality. 

1.14.6 Develop a communications plan tailored to residents’ specific needs. 

1.14.7 Be honest if problems arise and provide opportunities to explain and respond to concerns. 

1.14.8 Continue with work to deliver one shared drive for the team and a standard file structure. 

1.14.9 Quarterly Audits of projects to be conducted by H&S Compliance Officer and Asbestos 

Co-ordinator and feedback provided to the Project Officer and Senior Manager. 

1.14.10 H&S Compliance Officer and Asbestos Co-ordinator to conduct unannounced site visits to 

carry out observations and ensure compliance with SKDC policies and legislation. 

1.14.11 Tighter project management and governance. 

1.14.12 Key stages of projects to be formally signed off by the Project Officer, checked and 

countersigned as correct by a Senior Manager. 

1.14.13 Templates to be developed to facilitate this process and provide a clear audit trail of 

robustly managing contracts. 

1.14.14 Managers at all levels to conduct regular one to one meetings to ensure accountability for 

actions and checking of outputs.  

1.14.15 Continue with efforts to create more of a “one team” culture across both sites. 

1.14.16 Continue the recent practice of Project Officer’s checking each other’s project folders, 

including site visits. 

1.15 Action Plan in response to the Recommendations  

1.16 The Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee can be re-assured that the 

Housing department did not wait until the findings of this report before implementing 

changes within the team.  

1.17 The Committee can note that all of the recommendations above have been implemented 

and that the team have learnt much from the Independent Inquiry.  

1.18 The Housing Service has a new Interim Assistant Director for Housing and has appointed 

a new Improvements Manager to ensure that the team have adequate resource and the 

right skillset to lead the service.  

1.19 Further works have been undertaken during summer 2020 to replace the whole system at 

Riverside and as such no residents will have issues with their heating or hot water system. 

74



 

 
 

This project has been closely managed and residents have been kept informed on 

progress of these works and as a result there have been no complaints received during 

this period.  

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 Members were invited to attend an all Councillor briefing on the 3 November 2020 to 

receive a presentation on the Independent Inquiry where they were able to ask questions 

about the findings and implementation of the recommendations.  

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 The Independent Inquiry was requested by members of the public and Councillors to 

provide an opportunity to fully investigate the issues with the project and to provide the 

Council with lessons learnt for future projects.  

3.2 There was not a ‘do nothing’ option for appointing this piece of work to be undertaken.  

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 The Committee to note the findings and recommendations in the Independent Inquiry and 

ensure that the service implements all of these for future projects and keeps the Scrutiny 

Committee informed.  

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 It was requested by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee that they scrutinised the 

Independent Inquiry into the Riverside project.  

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 The tenants will be communicated with to make them aware of the Inquiry outcomes.  

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 There were financial implications from the Riverside project – there was a direct payment 

award of £44k to the affected tenants, individual compensation payments for damaged 

personal items totalling £11k and waived service charges that totalled £49k over the 

affected period.  The costs associated with the works totalled £500k and these were 

budgeted capital costs.  The total costs were met from within the HRA budget for 2020/21. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 The Council has a legal obligation to its tenants which has failed on this project.  

8.2 The report highlights that the Council’s Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules were 

correctly followed in appointing the contractor, but poor governance was a key factor 

highlighted in the report.  

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 No equality and safeguarding implications. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

75



 

 
 

10.1 The risks were not properly managed during the project which have been highlighted in 

the Inquiry. The Housing team should mitigate these for future projects and ensure 

appropriate procedures are complied with and documented.  

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 N/A 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 N/A 

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 None 

14 Background Papers 

14.1 Executive Summary of the Independent Review  

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

Not required 

Previously Considered by: Rural and 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

Not applicable 

Final Decision date   Not applicable 

 

76



04/11/20

1

Independent Inquiry – Riverside 
Upgrade Project

Julie Picken

Scope of the Inquiry

 a) To explore available information relating to the approach taken by SKDC

in the past to provide hot water and heating services to the residents of

Riverside.

 b) To explore the commissioning process used to appoint the Contractor to

carry out the work on site and whether this followed the agreed SKDC

process.

 c) To explore the management of the project from when work began on site 

on 29 April 2019 until completion

 d) To explore the impact of the project on Riverside residents

1

2

77

Appendix



04/11/20

2

Findings

a)To explore available information relating to the approach taken by SKDC in 
the past to provide hot water and heating services to the residents of Riverside.

 Replacement of parts of the hot water and heating system in 2012 and 2016, 
given the age of the connecting pipework, was perhaps short-sighted

 Serious issues with hot water and heating began in 2016

 Lack of a central point to record issues and complaints and management 
oversight

 Lack of action by the Council to fully investigate and resolve the root cause 
of the concerns until a decision to replace the pipework was made in 
January 2019.

Findings

b)To explore the commissioning process used to appoint the Contractor to carry 
out the work on site and whether this followed the agreed SKDC process.

 The Council’s Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules were correctly 
followed in appointing the contractor

 The Project Officer may not have been suitably qualified in commercial 
heating to provide accurate information to the Framework provider, Fusion 
21, to enable a suitable contractor to be recommended

 Pre-contract actions were not completed by the contractor or the Council 
before work started.

3

4

78



04/11/20

3

Findings

c)To explore the management of the project from when work began on site on 29 
April 2019 until completion

 The following actions as required by SKDC policies/processes were not 
completed or correctly followed by the PO: Project Check Sheet not completed, 
FH10 notification not sent to HSE, no records of contract management meetings 
or evidence of weekly site visits to monitor safe practices, no risk register, the 
Construction Phase Plan not completed by the contractor, yet this was not 
challenged

 The Corporate H&S Asbestos Management Policy and Property and Facilities 
Asbestos Management Procedure had not been followed resulting in the PO 
providing the contractor with the wrong asbestos survey information and the 
HSE issuing a prohibition notice

 Lack of management oversight of the PO’s actions

Findings

c)To explore the management of the project from when work began on site on 
29 April 2019 until completion

 The CPPR process was not followed as no-one was appointed to manage the 
contract and progress works during the PO’s 7 weeks sickness absence 

 The H&S Compliance Officer’s concerns about site management, when the 
project was 2 months behind schedule and the PO absent, did not result in 
any action to robustly manage the contract and get the works on track

 From 1.11.19 there was a more structured and robust approach to deal with 
the asbestos effectively and manage the contract.

5

6

79



04/11/20

4

Findings

d)To explore the impact of the project on Riverside residents

 Considerable hardship endured due to the project not completing until 
February 2020, instead of the end of August 2019 

 Temporary measures put in place were insufficient to provide enough hot 
water and heating during the cold winter months

 Most residents are elderly and retired, some with long term health issues, 
so the impact was significant

 Residents felt let down, not cared about and lied to

 Honesty and regular and an approachable presence on site after 1.11.19 was 
welcomed.

Recommendations

 Single point for incoming calls from residents concerning hot water and 
heating issues

 Manage the collated data to facilitate analysis and regular formal review by 
senior managers

 Complete review into Council properties with similar commercial type hot 
water and heating systems

 Ensure Project Officers appointed to procure works and manage contracts 
are suitably qualified

 PO’s to work more collaboratively from the outset and utilise internal 
expertise to identify risks and mitigating actions e.g. H&S, Asbestos, Equality

7

8

80



04/11/20

5

Recommendations

 Develop a communications plan tailored to residents’ specific needs

 Be honest if problems arise and provide opportunities to explain and 
respond to concerns

 Continue with work to deliver one shared drive for the team and a standard 
file structure

 Quarterly Audits of projects to be conducted by H&S Compliance Officer and 
Asbestos Co-ordinator and feedback provided to the PO and Senior Manager

 H&S Compliance Officer and Asbestos Co-ordinator to conduct 
unannounced site visits to carry out observations and ensure compliance 
with SKDC policies and legislation

Recommendations

 Tighter project management and governance

 Key stages of projects to be formally signed off by the PO, checked and 
countersigned as correct by a Senior Manager

 Templates to be developed to facilitate this process and provide a clear 
audit trail of robustly managing contracts

 Managers at all levels to conduct regular one to one meetings to ensure 
accountability for actions and checking of outputs 

 Continue with efforts to create more of a “one team” culture across both 
sites

 Continue recent practice of PO’s checking each other’s project folders, 
including site visits.

9

10

81



04/11/20

6

Any questions?

11

82



Document is Restricted

83

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Action Notes from the meeting held on 10 September 2020
	5 Updates from the previous meeting
	8 Health and Safety Compliance Report
	Housing Compliance

	10 Work Programme
	FP 1 Dec 2020 to 30 Nov 2021v2

	11 Riverside Flats
	Inquiry Report Presentation

	14 Riverside Flats Exempt Appendix

